

# Quantitative Analysis of the Impact of Agricultural Management Strategies on Environmental Indicators





priculture and Ag pri-Food Canada Ag

Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Canada



# QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE IMPACT OF AGRICULTURAL MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES ON ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

January 2005

#### QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE IMPACT OF AGRICULTURAL MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES ON ENVIRONMENTAL INDICATORS

#### **Project Team:**

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Policy and Planning Team (PPT) Environment Team (ET)

#### Authors:

Lori Heigh (PPT) Bruce Junkins (PPT)

#### **Project Leaders:**

Robert J. MacGregor (PPT) Bruce Junkins (PPT)

#### Analysis:

Bruce Junkins (PPT) Ravinderpal Gill (PPT) Lori Heigh (PPT) Jeremy Heigh (PPT) Marie Boehm (ET) Ted Huffman (ET) Jingyi Yang (ET) Laurens van Vliet (ET) Glenn Padbury (ET)

Research and Analysis Directorate Strategic Policy Branch Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2004

Any policy views, whether explicitly stated, inferred or interpreted from the contents of this publication, should not be represented as reflecting the views of Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.

AAFC does not control the availability of Internet web sites featured in this report. Therefore, it does not take responsibility for severed hyperlinks or discontinued web pages mentioned herein. Links to these web sites are provided solely for the convenience of users. AAFC does not endorse these sites, nor is it responsible for the accuracy, the currency or the reliability of the content. Users should be aware that information offered by sites other than those of the Government of Canada are not subject to the Official Languages Act.

Electronic versions of RAD publications are available on the Internet at http://aceis1.agr.gc.ca/spb/rad-dra

Publication 40909709B ISBN 0-662-39028-8 Catalogue A38-4/2-2005E-PDF Project 03-126-r

Aussi disponible en français sous le titre : « ANALYSE QUANTITATIVE DE L'INCIDENCE DES STRATÉGIES DE GESTION AGRICOLE SUR LES INDICATEURS ENVIRONNEMENTAUX . »

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowled	lgements xi
Acronyms	xiii
Foreword	xv
Executive	Summaryxvii
Section 1:	Introduction1
1.1 1.2 1.3	Background1Objectives of the Analysis2Report Structure2
Section 2:	Methodology Overview3
2.1 2.2 2.3	Canadian Regional Agricultural Model
Section 3:	Establishing a 2008 Reference Point9
Section 4:	Environmental Management Scenarios11
4.1 4.2	Comparison to Provincial Measures
Section 5:	Combined Scenario Analysis23
5.1 5.2 5.3	Combined Scenario23Results24National Summary26
Section 6:	Summary and Limitations

Appendix A: Scenario Assumptions		
Appendix B: Provincial Crosswalk	43	
Appendix C: Model Results	45	
Appendix D: Provincial Summaries	57	
British Columbia	57	
Alberta	58	
Saskatchewan	59	
Manitoba	60	
Ontario	61	
Quebec	61	
New Brunswick	62	
Prince Edward Island	63	
Nova Scotia	63	
Newfoundland	64	
References	65	

# LIST OF TABLES

<ul> <li>Table 1: Carbon Sequestration Coefficients</li></ul>	r
<ul> <li>Table 2: Summary of Indicators Applied to Each Environmental Management Scenario</li> <li>Table 3: Summary of Relevant Management Scenarios by Province</li> <li>Table 4: Change in SOC and Net Change in GHG for the Combined Scenario</li> <li>Table A.1: Assumptions for Nitrogen Matching Scenarios</li> <li>Table A.2: Impacts of Reducing Fall Application on Fertilizer Use and C (Nitrogen Matching Scenario)</li> <li>Table A 3: Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Table 3: Summary of Relevant Management Scenarios by Province</li> <li>Table 4: Change in SOC and Net Change in GHG for the Combined Scenario</li></ul>	12
Table 4:Change in SOC and Net Change in GHG for the Combined ScenarioTable A.1:Assumptions for Nitrogen Matching ScenariosTable A.2:Impacts of Reducing Fall Application on Fertilizer Use and C (Nitrogen Matching Scenario)Table A 3:Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario	23
Table A.1:Assumptions for Nitrogen Matching ScenariosTable A.2:Impacts of Reducing Fall Application on Fertilizer Use and C (Nitrogen Matching Scenario)Table A 3:Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario	24
Table A.2:Impacts of Reducing Fall Application on Fertilizer Use and C (Nitrogen Matching Scenario)Table A 3:Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario	31
Table A 3. Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario	Costs 32
Tuble A.S. Assumptions for Zero Hildge Sechano	33
<b>Table A.4:</b> Assumptions for Decreased Use of Summerfallow Scenario	34
Table A.5:         Assumptions for Permanent Cover Scenario	35
Table A.6:         Assumptions for Increased Forage in Crop Rotation           Scenario         Scenario	36
<b>Table A.7:</b> Assumptions for Terracing Scenario	37
<b>Table A.8:</b> Assumptions for Grazing Scenario: Complementary Grazing	g38
<b>Table A.9:</b> Assumptions for Grazing Scenario: Rotational Grazing	
Table A.10:         Assumptions for Combined Feeding Scenario	40
Table A.11:         Assumptions for Afforestation Scenario	41

Table B.1:	Crosswalk of Provincial Environmental Targets by Major APF
	Goal and AAFC Target Analysis4

Table C.1:	1996, 2001 and 2008 Baseline Results for CRAM and Agri- Environmental Indicators4	5
Table C.2:	Fertilizer Sold: Nitrogen Content for 1996, 2001 and 2008 (tonnes)46	5
Table C.3:	Zero Tillage Baseline Adoption Rates for 1996, 2001 and 20084	5
Table C.4:	2008 Baseline Results for CRAM and Agri-Environmental Indicators4	7
Table C.5:	Nitrogen Matching: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates48	8
Table C.6:	Increased Zero Tillage: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates49	9
Table C.7:	Reduced Summerfallow: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates	C
Table C.8	Permanent Cover: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates5	1
Table C.9:	Increased Forage Use in Crop Rotations: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates52	2
Table C.10:	Grazing Management: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates	3
Table C.11:	Combined Feeding Strategies: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates	4
Table C.12:	Agro-Forestry: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates5	5
Table C.13:	Combined Scenario: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEI's for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates56	б

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Better Nitrogen Matching1	3
Figure 2:	Percentage Change in Nitrogen Indicators as a Result of Better Nitrogen Matching1	3
Figure 3:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Increased Conservation Tillage1	4
Figure 4:	Percentage Change in RWE and RWDE Indicators as a Result of Increased Conservation Tillage1	5
Figure 5:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Reduced Summerfallow1	5
Figure 6:	Percentage Change in RSN Indicator as a Result of Reduced Summerfallow1	6
Figure 7:	Percentage Change in RWE and RWDE Indicators as a Result of Reduced Summerfallow1	6
Figure 8:	Percentage Change in HA Indicator as a Result of Reduced Summerfallow1	6
Figure 9:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Increased Permanent Cover1	7
Figure 10:	Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN as a Result of Increased Permanent Cover1	7
Figure 11:	Percentage Change in RWDE and RWE Indicators as a Result of Increased Permanent Cover1	7
Figure 12:	Percentage Change in HA Indicator as a Result of Increased Permanent Cover1	7
Figure 13:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations1	8
Figure 14:	Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN Indicators as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations1	8
Figure 15:	Percentage Change in RWDE and RWE Indicators as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations1	8
Figure 16:	Percentage Change in the HA Indicator as a Result of Increased	8

Figure 17:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Grazing Management Strategies20
Figure 18:	Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN as a Result of Grazing Management Strategies20
Figure 19:	Percentage Change in RWE and RWDE Indicators as a Result of Grazing Management Strategies20
Figure 20:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Combined Feeding Strategies21
Figure 21:	Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN as a Result of Combined Feeding Strategies21
Figure 22:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions as a Result of Afforestation Plantations22
Figure 23:	Percentage Change in HA Indicator as a Result of Afforestation Plantations22
Figure 24:	Percentage Change in GHG Emissions for the Combined Scenario25
Figure 25:	Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN Indicators for the Combined Scenario25
Figure 26:	Percentage Change in RWDE and RWE Indicators for the Combined Scenario25
Figure 27:	Percentage Change in HA Indicator for the Combined Scenario26
Figure 28:	National Summary of the Percentage Change in Land Use Types and Livestock from 2008 BAU for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure 29:	National Summary of the Percentage Change in AEIs from 2008 BAU for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates26
Figure D.1:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for British Columbia under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.2:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for British Columbia under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates57
Figure D.3:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Alberta under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates58
Figure D.4:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Alberta under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates58
Figure D.5:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Saskatchewan under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates59
Figure D.6:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Saskatchewan under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates59
Figure D.7:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Manitoba under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates60

Figure D.8:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Manitoba under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.9:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Ontario under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.10:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Ontario under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates61
Figure D.11:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Quebec under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.12:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Quebec under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.13:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for New Brunswick under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.14:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for New Brunswick under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.15:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Prince Edward Island under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.16:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Prince Edward Island under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.17:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Nova Scotia under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates 63
Figure D.18:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Nova Scotia under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates64
Figure D.19:	Summary of Percentage Change in Land Use Type and Livestock for Newfoundland under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates
Figure D.20:	Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Newfoundland under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study has benefited from input provided by a number of individuals and organizations. The authors wish to thank the following for their contributions:

#### Organizations

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC)

- Policy and Planning Team (PPT)
- Environment Team (ET)

Federal Provincial APF Environment Working Group (FPWG)

#### Individuals

- Maragaret Zafiriou (PPT), Herb Rees (ET), Al Hamill (ET), Dean Smith (ET) and Bob Turnock (ET) for helping to define the scenarios to be analyzed and providing comments on several drafts of this report
- Terry McRae (ET) and Carrie Spencer (ET) for coordinating discussions between the analysis team and the FPWG
- Several members of the FPWG for their comments and suggestions with respect to scenarios, assumptions and results
- Ted Weins (ET) for input on the habitat availability indicator
- Julie Smith (PPT) for editorial comments

# ACRONYMS

AAFC	Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada
AEI	Agri-Environmental Indicator
APF	Agricultural Policy Framework
BAU	Business as Usual
BMP	Beneficial Management Practice
C	Carbon
CEEMA	Canadian Economic and Emissions Model for Agriculture
CFS	Canadian Forest Service
CH <sub>4</sub>	Methane
C0 <sub>2</sub>	Carbon Dioxide
CRAM	Canadian Regional Agricultural Model
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
HA	Habitat Availability
IROWCN	Indicator for the Risk of Water Contamination by Nitrogen
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change
К	Potassium
LUAM	Land Use Allocation Model
LULUCF	Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry
Ν	Nitrogen
NAHARP	National Agi-Environmental Health Analysis and Reporting Program
N <sub>2</sub> 0	Nitrous Oxide
RSN	Residual Nitrogen
RUSLEFAC	Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation for Application in Canada
RWDE	Risk of Wind Erosion
RWE	Risk of Water Erosion
SLC	Soil Landscape of Canada Polygon
soc	Soil Organic Carbon

# FOREWORD

Canada's agriculture industry makes an important contribution to national social, economic and ecological welfare, and thus the sustainable development of this sector is important to all Canadians. Concern about the sustainability of agriculture is increasing in Canada and governments have responded by broadening the scope of agricultural policy to include environmental and social issues.

The Agricultural Policy Framework (APF), which was launched in June 2001, is a joint initiative of Canada's federal, provincial and territorial governments. Through it, ministers of agriculture pledged to meet the sector's challenges by jointly developing an agriculture policy that is comprehensive, integrated and ensures that farmers have the tools to address issues, be competitive and capture opportunities in the areas of science, food safety and environmental stewardship. In the case of the APF environment chapter, ministers also requested that measurable goals and targets be specified.

This study uses an integrated economic-environmental modeling system to provide quantitative estimates that were used in the process of setting provincial environmental outcome targets under the APF. The analysis represents a joint effort of the Department's physical scientists, economists and policy analysts. This approach provides the ability to model the impacts of agricultural production and the adoption of Beneficial Management Practices (BMPs) on the Canadian environment. The analysis quantifies the impacts of various management practices on air, soil, and water quality as well as biodiversity through measurable and meaningful indicators. It also assists in identifying appropriate environmental goals by providing an indication of achievable outcomes as a result of adopting environmental management practices.

The results of this study provided policy-makers with information on the levels of environmental improvements that are feasible to obtain and identified options to reach these environmental targets. This quantitative analysis provided a basis for discussions between AAFC and the provincial governments with respect to the inclusion of specific environmental outcome targets in the bilateral APF Implementation Agreements.

This study is based on existing agri-environmental indicators and integrated modeling capacity. The limitations of these analytical tools and results are recognized. Work will continue at Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC), through the National Agri-Environmental Health Analysis and Reporting Program (NAHARP) to improve the indicators and modeling capacity described in this study and to apply these analytical tools to policy development, performance monitoring, program evaluation and public reporting. Future development will focus on three particular areas: enhancement of the methodology and data of existing agri-environmental indicators and development of new indicators to address key gaps; improvements in the economic models and their linkages to environmental indicator models; and development of a capacity to understand and quantify the economic costs and benefits of environmental changes due to agriculture. The analysis presented in this study will have to be revisited as the data and models are improved through the NAHARP process and the provincial environmental outcome targets will be adjusted as appropriate.

The proposed advances in methodology will lead to policy benefits such as developing a more precise picture of the change in management practices needed to achieve existing targets, and developing options for revising the targets in the existing Implementation Agreements as we move forward within the APF time frame and beyond.

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In June of 2001, federal, provincial and territorial agriculture ministers met in Whitehorse, Yukon to establish an agreement in principle on a new long term agricultural policy framework and action plan that could take the sector beyond crisis management to become the world leader in food safety, innovation and environmentally responsible production. Five priority areas identified in the framework include food safety, environment, science, renewal and risk management. Over the next five year period (to 2007), policy will be developed for these key areas.

Key elements of the Whitehorse Agreement specify that:

"Ministers... agree to work towards a comprehensive plan for accelerated environmental action, fully covering all Canadian farms, that will help achieve measurable and meaningful environmental targets in the areas of water, air and soil quality, and bio diversity. Ministers will seek agreement on indicators, targets, timetables and approaches."

The Agricultural Policy Framework (APF) Agreement, with specific environmental goals and targets, was signed by most provinces in Halifax in 2002. It included goals related to water resources, air quality, soil health and biological resources and services as well as environmental farm management. Specific quantitative targets and measures were outlined in bilateral Implementation Agreements that were signed with the provinces in the summer and autumn of 2003.

In an effort to help federal, provincial and territorial ministers come to an agreement on the indicators, targets and approaches, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) conducted a quantitative analysis. The analytical results of this study were used to inform the process of developing the detailed quantitative outcome goals and targets that were incorporated into the Implementation Agreements.

The analysis used various economic and science-based models to determine the impact of changes in farming practices on production, land use and the agri-environmental indicators (AEI), which are outlined in the environment chapter of the APF. This report briefly summarizes AAFC's analysis and presents the impact on environmental performance as measured by indicators related to water, air and soil quality and biodiversity.

Prior to conducting the analysis, an expert group of scientists, policymakers and modelers met to discuss alternative ways to provide input into the federal/provincial decision making process for targets and measures. After some discussion of tools, goals and resources, they identified nine environmental management scenarios that would cover the impact of various farming practices related to soil nutrient management, soil management, grazing management, livestock feeding management and afforestation.

The scenarios were chosen based on the following criteria:

- Relevance to the established environmental goals of the APF
- Measurability application and suitability to existing models
- Level of priority within agriculture
- Feasibility

The nine environmental management scenarios that were chosen include:

- Soil nutrient management: better matching of nitrogen to crop requirements
- Soil management practices: increased use of zero tillage
- Soil management practices: decreased use of summerfallow
- Soil management practices: permanent cover program
- Soil management practices: increased forage in crop rotations
- Soil management practices: terracing
- Grazing management: complementary and rotational grazing
- Combined feeding strategies
- Afforestation: increasing plantations on agricultural lands

The quantitative analysis was completed by integrating an economic model with seven existing AEI models. The AEI models indicate the impacts of various agricultural management strategies on the Canadian environment; specifically air, soil, water and biodiversity. The impact of each environmental management scenario on the AEIs was determined separately and the individual impacts were then aggregated to provide the total impact of all scenarios. Since it was unclear whether the scenario impacts were additive, a combined analysis was conducted to account for possible interactions between scenarios. A comparison of the individual and combined scenario results revealed that the results were essentially additive across scenarios.

The overall results of this analysis reveal that the environmental management scenarios have a desirable impact on the AEIs. Air quality is improved through the reduction of Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions by 20% (12.2 Mt CO2 equivalent) from baseline levels. An improvement in soil quality is represented by the reduction in residual nitrogen and risk of wind and water erosion. Residual nitrogen decreases by 11%, and the reductions in risk of wind and water erosion and water contamination vary according to province. Biodiversity, in terms of habitat availability, improves by 6% across Canada. Results were generated for three different levels of adoption in order to provide the sensitivity of results to different adoption rates.

The APF Agreement states that ministers want to "achieve measurable, and meaningful environmental goals in the areas of water, air and soil quality." This analysis demonstrates how we can measure the impacts of agricultural practices on the environment. Therefore, this type of analysis is useful to the APF process for a couple of reasons. First, it quantifies the impact of various management practices on water, air and soil quality and biodiversity through measurable and meaningful indicators. Second, it assists in identifying appropriate environmental targets by providing an indication of achievable outcomes as a result of environmental management practices.

Quantitative assessment of the economic impacts of environmental management scenarios on agricultural production are not included in this study due to time constraints and lack of available and relevant economic information. Some estimates of producers' net margins are available from the scenario runs of the economic model, but this information needs to be supplemented by results from other studies. It is recognized that information regarding the costs and benefits of various environmental management practices is critical to policy development and are therefore a necessary part of future work.

### SECTION 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

In June of 2001, federal, provincial and territorial agriculture ministers met in Whitehorse, Yukon to reach an agreement in principle on a new long-term agricultural policy framework and action plan that would take the sector beyond crisis management to become the world leader in food safety, innovation and environmentally-responsible production. The agreement identifies five priority areas including food safety and quality, environment, science and research, renewal and risk management. Goals, principles, an action plan and next steps will be developed for each priority area and will contribute to policy development over a five year period (to 2007).

Key elements of the Whitehorse Agreement specify that:

"Ministers... agree to work towards a comprehensive plan for accelerated environmental action, fully covering all Canadian farms, that will help achieve measurable and meaningful environmental goals in the areas of water, air and soil quality, and bio-diversity. Ministers will seek agreement on indicators, targets, timetables and approaches."

Development and implementation of the agreement points to the need for an analytical capacity to help set goals and targets for the environment and for indicators to measure progress toward these objectives. In consultation with the provinces, the federal government worked towards developing specific environmental and farm management targets and approaches for implementation and management that will allow them to achieve these goals. The Agricultural Policy Framework (APF) Agreement, with specific environmental goals and targets, was signed by most provinces in Halifax in 2002. It included goals related to water resources, air quality, soil health and biological resources and services as well as environmental farm management. Specific quantitative targets and measures were outlined in bilateral Implementation Agreements that were signed with the provinces in the summer and autumn of 2003. This development of progressively more detailed environmental outcome goals and targets was informed by the quantitative analysis described in this paper.

This work builds on previous analysis conducted during the Issues Table Process on Climate Change. Representatives from federal and provincial governments, industry groups and academia worked together to develop national and regional estimates of potential greenhouse gas (GHG) reductions and related costs for various mitigation scenarios in agriculture. Many of these same scenarios are used in the current analysis since they have environmental co-benefits for the potential to improve air, soil and water quality and biodiversity.

#### **1.2 Objectives of the Analysis**

- To provide scientifically-based quantitative analysis to assist governments in the process of reaching the environmental goals outlined in the environment chapter of the APF
- To establish a prototype for conducting future environmental assessment analysis specific to agriculture

#### **1.3 Report Structure**

This report is organized into eight sections. Section two presents a description of the economic and environmental indicator models used in this analysis and section three briefly discusses the baseline that is used for scenario comparisons. Section four provides an overview of the environmental management scenarios and model results by scenario. Section five presents a summary of results for the combined scenario. Section six contains a brief summary and highlights some of the key limitations of this work. The final two sections include the references and appendices containing scenario assumptions, a provincial crosswalk, detailed scenario results and a summary of results by province.

2

### SECTION 2 METHODOLOGY OVERVIEW

Agriculture interacts with and is influenced by a wide array of social, economic and environmental factors. These factors are inextricably linked to one another, interacting and giving rise to various driving forces that influence the nature and direction of agricultural production. In order to improve our understanding of these relationships, quantitative analysis was conducted through the integration of an economic model with seven existing AEI models. The AEIs indicate how the various agricultural management strategies impact the Canadian environment, specifically air, soil, water and biodiversity. This section provides a brief description of the models and some of the key assumptions.

#### 2.1 Canadian Regional Agricultural Model

The economic model used for this study is the Canadian Regional Agricultural Model (CRAM), which has been used for many years in Canada as a policy analysis tool. CRAM is a sector equilibrium model for Canadian agriculture that is disaggregated across both commodities and space (Horner at al. 1992). CRAM is a static, non-linear optimization model that maximizes producer plus consumer surplus. The basic commodity coverage is grains and oilseeds, forage, beef, hogs, dairy and poultry (horticulture is excluded). Spatial features of the model include provincial-level livestock and crop production, with the exception of the Prairie provinces, where crop production is divided into 22 regions based on the Census of Agriculture boundaries. Supply response is determined by the relative profitability of alternative crops. The model allows for both inter-provincial and international trade in primary and processed products. Government policies are incorporated directly through payments and indirectly through policies such as supply management and subsidized input costs. CRAM is capable of estimating the change in resource allocation into various enterprises in response to changes in technology, government programs and policies or market conditions. Analysis is carried out by comparing activity levels for a scenario versus a baseline version of CRAM.

#### 2.2 Linkages Between CRAM and Agri-Environmental Indicators

Over the past few years, a number of Agri-Environmental Indicators (AEI) have been developed for the agricultural sector (McRae et al. 2000). While these indicators are useful for tracking environmental performance over historical periods, predictive models are needed to objectively estimate what the future might look like given the changes in policy today. This predictive capacity has been developed by linking the economic (CRAM) and AEI models. There are substantial spatial implications in doing this type of analysis since environmental impacts vary with local conditions such as climate, soil type and landscape. Policy scenarios are run by linking the crop and livestock activity levels generated by CRAM to the AEIs and assessing changes in the environmental indicators from the baseline. The following presents a brief description of the AEIs that were linked to CRAM to conduct this analysis.

#### 2.3 Environmental Indicator Models

#### 2.3.1 GHG Emissions

The Canadian Economic and Emissions Model for Agriculture (CEEMA) is used to assess GHG emissions (Kulshreshtha et al., 2002). CEEMA consists of a GHG module, which links CRAM output to GHG coefficients to estimate emissions of carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ), methane ( $CH_4$ ) and nitrous oxide ( $N_2O$ ). Total emissions are calculated on a  $CO_2$  - equivalent basis based on 100-year global warming potential conversion factors of 21 for methane and 310 for nitrous oxide. The model uses the current state-of-the-science of GHG emissions to estimate total emissions from primary agriculture. In order to provide a complete indicator for agricultural systems, the calculations include all of the Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change (IPCC) sources for the agriculture sector, plus sinks from the land use, land use change and forestry (LULUCF) sector and on-farm fuel use from the transportation sector. A systems approach is taken, meaning both direct and indirect emissions are accounted for in all three major GHGs. This is important since scenarios targeted at increasing soil carbon sequestration may lead to increased emissions of the other gases; hence the net impact needs to be assessed.

#### 2.3.2 Soil Organic Carbon

Agricultural soil organic carbon (SOC) contributes to soil health and can remove carbon from the atmosphere, thus helping reduce net emissions of greenhouse gases from agriculture. The amount of organic carbon held in agricultural soil is the difference between how much is added to the soil (as crop residues, manure, sewage sludge) and how much is lost (through respiration, mineralization or erosion). Certain agricultural management practices, such as zero-till and the inclusion of forage crops in rotations, build up more carbon in agricultural soils. Other practices, such as continuous summerfallow, will reduce soil carbon stocks.

Stocks and changes in agricultural SOC are estimated with CEEMA using a combination of the Century model and expert opinion (based on empirical data) coefficients (Table 1). The Century model is a site-specific computer simulation model that makes use of simplified relationships of soil-plant-climate interactions to describe the dynamics of soil carbon and nitrogen in grasslands, croplands, forests and savannas. It simulates above and below-ground production of plant material as a function of soil temperature, available water and nutrient availability. This model has been extensively evaluated under different soil, climatic and agricultural practices. These practices include planting, fertilizer application, tillage, grazing and organic matter addition. Century has been tested in eastern and western Canada, the United States, northern Europe and under tropical conditions.

On the Prairies where there has been a long history of soil organic carbon research based on well established scientific sampling and measurement protocols, the Century-derived rates of carbon sequestration associated with management practices such as the adoption of zero tillage and elimination of summerfallow were replaced with expert opinion coefficients, which were empirically derived from a number of research findings. Researchers are continuing to validate the Century model and to verify predictions of soil organic carbon (SOC) for adoption of farm management practices that sequester carbon.

	Prai			
Activity	Brown	Dark Brown	Black	Non-Prairie
Adoption of Zero Tillage	-0.73	-0.73	-1.34	-0.54
Reduce summerfallow	-0.15	-0.16	-0.08	
Increase forages in crop rotation		-0.94	-2.44	-2.44
Permanent cover	-0.88	-1.15	-3.3	-3.3

#### Table 1: Carbon Sequestration coefficients (Mg CO<sub>2</sub>ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>)

Notes: (1) The coefficients shown in bold are from empirical data (McConkey et al., 1999).

(2) Other coefficients were derived with the Century model (Smith et al., 2000).

#### 2.3.3 Residual Nitrogen

The residual nitrogen (RSN) indicator is an estimate of the quantity of nitrogen remaining in the field after harvest (McRae et al., 2000 pg.162-163). It is the difference between the amount of nitrogen that is available to the growing crop from all sources and the maximum amount removed in the harvested portion of the crop under average conditions. The crop nitrogen requirement is estimated as the amount recommended for achieving economically optimal production.

The indicator is calculated by:

- Estimating the amount of nitrogen available from the three major agricultural sources of nitrogen: mineral fertilizer, animal manure and legume nitrogen fixation. In the semi-arid regions, inputs also include crop residues and mineralization of soil nitrogen during periods of summerfallow
- Estimating the amount of nitrogen removed in the harvested portion of the crop based on a combination of recommended levels and standard tables of the portion removed in harvest
- Calculating the difference between these two amounts to give a value for residual nitrogen.

Nitrogen levels were determined from recommended rates of fertilizer application rather than from crop yields, to reflect the actual situation in which farmers must decide by an early stage of crop growth how much nitrogen to apply. Crop yield is only partly controlled by management inputs; uncontrollable growing season conditions exert a major influence. Where the levels of available nitrogen are less than or equal to crop recommendations, the ratio of nitrogen remaining to nitrogen available corresponds to standard published information and reflects the overall ability of the crop to use nitrogen. Where nitrogen is present in excess, the ratio increases.

The indicator itself does not give any insight into the environmental effects of various levels of RSN in different agricultural settings. Surplus nitrogen may pose a risk to the environment, but this risk is also sensitive to other factors, such as soil type and climatic conditions. For example, the movement of nitrogen from farmland into the broader environment is related to the movement of water. In the dry regions of the interior British Columbia and the Prairies, the movement of nitrogen in water is limited, occurring mainly during storms and periods of heavy runoff. The environmental risks of having RSN in the soil are greater in humid areas of the country, such as central and eastern Canada. Thus, RSN was also used in the assessment of the next indicator – risk of water contamination by nitrogen.

#### 2.3.4 Risk of Water Contamination by Nitrogen

Contamination of water by nitrogen from farms is a major environmental concern for the agriculture industry. The potential for agricultural nitrogen in the form of nitrate to contaminate water is directly related to two factors: the movement of water off farmland, either in overland flow or by leaching through the soil profile into groundwater and the amount of surplus or residual nitrogen available. The indicator model for the risk of water contamination by nitrogen (IROWCN) measures the risk of water contamination by nitrogen from farmland (McRae et al., 2000 pg.118). The indicator is based on estimates of the potential concentration of nitrate-nitrogen in water leaving farmland.

The potential concentration of nitrogen in water leaving farmland is determined by dividing the amount of nitrogen by the amount of water available to dilute this nitrogen (called excess water). The quantity of nitrogen that is potentially available to move off farmland, called RSN, was calculated as described above for the residual nitrogen indicator.

The amount of water that is potentially available to move off farmland was calculated by devising a moisture budget based on 30 year averages for precipitation (moisture input) and potential evapotranspiration (moisture output). The difference between these two values was used as the estimate of water surplus or water deficit. The capacity of the soil to hold available water was also an important factor in the water budget.

Currently, the IROWCN indicator is only functional for the eastern provinces and the lower mainland of British Columbia; however, work is underway to make this indicator operational for the Prairie provinces and the Peace River region of British Columbia.

#### 2.3.5 Risk of Water Erosion

The risk of water erosion (RWE) indicator is used to estimate the extent of cultivated land at risk of water erosion and to monitor changes in this risk over time, particularly as a result of changes in management practices (McRae et al., 2000 pg.60). The rate of water erosion is estimated using the Revised Universal Soil Loss Equation for Application in Canada (RUSLEFAC) model. Information on factors that influence a soil's vulnerability or resistance to erosion, such as climate, soil and landscape topography, is used to tabulate rainfall, soil, slope gradient and slope length factors for particular agricultural areas. The potential risk of water erosion represented by these factors is then determined for each area and treated as a constant value. The change in erosion risk over time is calculated by considering the effects of changes in agricultural land use and tillage practices across Canada, such as fluctuations in cropland areas, shifts in the types of crops grown and the use of conservation tillage and no-till. This information is obtained from the Census of Agriculture, the CRAM model and input from soil experts. The RUSLEFAC model then estimates the rate of erosion for agricultural cropland in study areas.

Risk is expressed in the following five classes: tolerable (less than 6 tonnes per hectare per year), low (6 to 11 t/ha/yr), moderate (11 to 22 t/ha/yr), high (22 to 33 t/ha/yr) and severe (greater than 33 t/ha/yr). Areas in the lowest class are generally considered at tolerable risk of soil erosion and able to sustain long term crop production. The other four classes represent the risk of conditions that are unsustainable and for which soil conservation practices are needed to support crop production over the long term.

#### 2.3.6 Risk of Wind Erosion

A risk of wind erosion (RWDE) indicator is used to monitor the extent of cultivated land at risk of wind erosion, particularly as a result of changes in management practices (McRae et al., 2000 pg.70). The RWDE is expressed in five categories: negligible, low, moderate, high and severe. The indicator can also be viewed as an indirect measure of a change in soil quality. Because wind erosion is a process of soil degradation resulting in decreased soil quality, a declining erosion risk is considered positive in terms of soil quality. This indicator is only applicable to the Prairie provinces.

#### 2.3.7 Habitat Availability

Agriculture has reduced the quantity of natural habitats, mainly through conversion of the natural landscape and changes in land use, such as the drainage of wetlands and the removal and fragmentation of forest cover. It can also affect the quality of wildlife habitats through various land management practices, such as fertilization, pesticide use and intensive grazing. However, some wildlife species are able to thrive where a native habitat has been replaced by an agricultural habitat, or where agricultural lands contain such habitats as wetlands, grasslands and wooded areas.

To assess agriculture's impacts on wildlife habit, matrices were developed that relate habitat types found on agricultural land (e.g. cropland, pasture, woodlands, wetlands) to the ways in which individual species use agricultural habitats (e.g. for foraging, feeding, nesting, breeding). The matrices were developed from accepted wildlife guidebooks and expert opinion and data on area of agricultural habitats was obtained from the Census of Agriculture. The indicator model used in this analysis can be interpreted as the level of habitat availability (HA) on agricultural lands (adapted from McRae et al., 2000, pg. 145-155).

The types of species and their use of agricultural habitats are essentially constant over time. However, patterns of agricultural land use and cover may evolve over time in response to market conditions and other factors. The habitat index is sensitive to such patterns of agricultural land use as they affect habitats for species.

### SECTION 3 ESTABLISHING A 2008 REFERENCE POINT

The first step in analyzing the environmental impacts due to changes in on-farm management practices over the next five years was to establish a business as usual (BAU) baseline case for 2008. The year 2008 was chosen since it marks the end of the first APF period for which achievable outcomes must be established. The 2008 BAU baseline for CRAM assumes no increase or decrease in the agricultural land base, with land management practices (e.g. conservation tillage, summerfallow and fertilizer use) continuing to be adopted at rates consistent with historical trends and physical constraints. Growth in various crop and livestock enterprises for 2008 were based on 2001 census information and projections provided by AAFC's September 2002 Medium Term Policy Baseline. Once the CRAM BAU was established, the data was used as input for establishing 2008 baselines for the AEIs. Baseline numbers for CRAM and AEIs are presented in Appendix C.

Baseline numbers for 1996, 2001 and 2008 reveal an increasing trend in cropland, hayland, beef cows and breeding sows whereas summerfallow and native pasture area are declining (Appendix C, Table C.1). Note that tame pasture and native pasture areas are held constant from 2001 to 2008 due to the lack of information on 2008 projections. Trends in land use type, livestock production, fertilizer rates (Table C.2) and zero tillage adoption (Table C.3) are reflected as changes in the AEI baselines. For example, the GHG indicator decreases from 1996 to 2001 and increases from 2001 to 2008. This fluctuation is a result of interactions between the positive impact of increasing SOC sinks (largely influenced by the increase in zero-tillage adoption) with the negative impact of increasing livestock numbers and nitrogen fertilizer rates.

The following section gives a brief overview of the environmental management scenarios included in this analysis. Each of the environmental management scenarios is compared against the 2008 BAU projections for the applicable environmental indicators.

#### SECTION 4

### ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SCENARIOS

In February 2002, a group of scientists, economists and policy analysts from AAFC met to discuss the package of environmental management scenarios that could be used as potential strategies to meet the environmental goals outlined by the APF agreement. The choice of environmental management scenarios was based on the following criteria:

- Relevance to the established environmental goals for the APF
- · Measurability application and suitability to existing models
- Level of priority within agriculture
- Feasibility

Based on the criteria above, nine scenarios were chosen for quantitative analysis. Various scientists and field experts were contacted to provide input into the development of assumptions for each scenario. For each scenario the following set of information was required as input into the economic model (CRAM): applicable regions, current adoption rates, potential future adoption rates, changes in input costs and output. See Appendix A for detailed information on the assumptions for each scenario.

Several management areas identified in the APF goals are not addressed in the selected scenarios due to the lack of existing models for measurement. For example, it was agreed that manure management, specifically storage, handling and application, is an important environmental issue, but it could not be addressed in the current analysis. Integrated pest management and pesticide storage, handling, and application is another area excluded from the analysis. Table 2 provides an overview of the environmental management scenarios included in this analysis and the relevant indicators applied to each scenario.

	Air	Water	Soil		Bio- diversity	
Environmental Management Scenario	CEEMA (GHG)	IROWCN	RSN	*RWDE	RWE	НА
Nitrogen Matching	~	✓	~			
Conservation Tillage	~	~	V	~	~	~
Reduced Summer- fallow	~	~	V	~	~	~
Permanent Cover	~	~	~	~	~	~
Forage in Crop Rotations	V	~	V	~	~	~
* * Terracing						
Rotational & Com- plementary Grazing	V	~	V	~	~	V
<b>Combined Feeding</b>	~	~	~			
Afforestation	~	~	~	~	~	~

#### Table 2: Summary of Indicators Applied to Each Environmental Management Scenario

\* Wind erosion model is only applicable for the Prairie provinces.

\*\* RWE, RSN and IROWCN are relevant indicators for the terracing scenario, however, due to model structure these indicators could not be applied.

The impact of the management scenarios on environmental indicators is dependent on the assumed adoption rates. Three adoption rates, low, medium and high, were developed for each scenario based on expert opinion. Low adoption rates are slightly above baseline levels. Medium adoption is reasonably achievable with some promotion of management practices. High adoption rates represent achievable adoption under aggressive promotion of management strategies.

In the following section, scenario results are presented for medium adoption rates only. Results are reported as a percentage change from the 2008 BAU baseline. Changes of less than 0.5% are not presented in the following summary of results. A complete set of model outcomes are contained in Appendix C.

#### 4.1 Comparison to Provincial Measures

Provincial measures and targets, identified by individual provinces during federal/provincial consultations prior to this analysis were grouped according to broader goals identified in the APF framework including: 1) environmental risk assessment and planning goals, 2) nutrient management, 3) pest management, 4) land and water management and 5) nuisance management. The provincial measures were matched with the scenario analysis conducted by AAFC, which is described in this report. The choice of AAFC's environmental management scenarios for the current analysis was limited by the ability of the quantitative economic and scientific models to reflect environmental measures or actions. Most of the scenarios modeled specific actions rather than measures for each of the provinces. For example, the models were capable of estimating the impact of reduced summerfallow, increased conservation tillage and sustainable grazing practices under the land and water management goal. However, goals related to the extent

of environmental farm plans in the provinces were more difficult to model, therefore no overlap occurs in this area. The Provincial Crosswalk Table (Appendix B) presents areas of overlap between AAFC's environmental targets analysis and provincial measures and targets.

#### 4.2 Scenario Analysis

#### 4.2.1 Nitrogen Matching

The nitrogen matching scenario assumes better management of the use of nitrogen fertilizer applied to crops in all provinces except Nova Scotia and Newfoundland. In eastern Canada better nitrogen matching to crop requirements is achieved through frequent monitoring of soil nitrogen levels by soil testing resulting in a reduction of fertilizer use. In western Canada nitrogen application in the spring is more efficient than fall application for crop growth, hence the total amount of fertilizer required is lower if some of the fall application is shifted to the spring. Input costs are also adjusted in this scenario since less fertilizer is required, but prices are higher in the spring than in the fall. It is assumed that nitrogen in manure stays constant in this scenario. An adoption rate of 100% is assumed within applicable areas.

This scenario is expected to reduce GHG ( $N_2O$ ) emissions and excess nitrogen (IROWCN and RSN). Results of this simulation suggest a slight shift in the crop mix, particularly in the reduction of the corn area in eastern Canada due to the cost of soil testing. Livestock production remains virtually unaffected. A small efficiency gain occurs for producers due to a reduction in total fertilizer use in the West as the result of application in the spring being more efficient than in the fall. For example, in British Columbia changing from 70% spring and 30% fall application of fertilizer to 100% spring application results in an 11% decrease in the total amount of fertilizer required (Table A.2).

#### Scenario Impacts

- The change in the SOC indicator is negligible since land use type or tillage type is unchanged.
- GHG model results indicate a small reduction in emissions in all relevant provinces (Figure 1) with an overall national reduction of 1.4% (0.9 megatonnes (Mt) CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent). The majority of the total reduction is achieved in Ontario due to the magnitude of the corn crop, which requires high fertilizer input. The percentage reduction for Prince Edward Island is large due to the high intensity of fertilizer use for potatoes.
- The nitrogen indicators, IROWCN and RSN, show a decrease in excess nitrogen in water and soil across most provinces (Figure 2). The largest percentage changes occur in Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island. This is likely due to the greater use of nitrogen in eastern provinces and therefore a greater need for nitrogen matching to crop requirements.
- Nitrogen matching does not affect the RWDE and RWE indicators.
- The HA indicator was unaffected by nitrogen matching since there is little movement in land from one category to another.



The nitrogen matching scenario impacts GHG, RSN and IROWCN indicators. GHG emissions are reduced across most provinces with a total national reduction of 0.9 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent assuming medium adoption. The range of potential reductions is 0.5 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> (0.9%) to 1.1 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> (1.9%) for low and high adoption rates respectively. National reductions in RSN range from 2.3% to 5.6%. For the eastern provinces, reductions in IROWCN vary considerably between low and high adoption rates.

#### 4.2.2 Increase Use of No-till

The increased no-till (zero tillage) scenario is applied to all provinces. Adoption of conservation tillage was assumed to increase to 57% of cropland compared to 32% in the baseline. This represents an increase of 7.1 million hectares over baseline levels with corresponding decreases in minimum and conventional tillage. For provincial adoption rates see the assumptions table in Appendix A. It is expected that increased no-till will result in a reduction in GHG emissions and a decrease in wind and water erosion. A slight change in the crop mix was noted for this scenario, but the livestock impacts were minimal. Recent studies have shown that transition costs of switching to no-till from conventional technology result in lower returns in the first year or two, reaching higher stable levels by year four once the producer has learned how to manage the new production system. However, for many producers, the improved long-run returns are probably not sufficient to provide the incentive needed for change.

Although this scenario is applicable to all provinces, it should be noted that the current structure of CRAM contains tillage distributions for the Prairie provinces only. Hence, the information that is fed from CRAM to the AEI models is limited for the non-Prairie provinces, and may not be sensitive enough to reflect changes due to improved tillage practices. This was accounted for in the GHG estimates by calculating carbon (C) sequestration for the non-Prairie provinces outside of CEEMA; however, this issue still needs to be addressed for the other indicators.

#### Scenario Impacts

- Conservation tillage and more specifically, zero tillage enhances soil C sequestration by eliminating soil disturbance and reducing the rate of decomposition of soil organic matter (Janzen et al. 1998). The largest change in SOC occurs in the Prairie provinces. This is due to the relatively high rates of adoption of zero tillage in these areas. Rates of C sequestration in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba are 0.48 Mt C (1.8 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent), 0.96 Mt C (3.5 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) and 0.33 Mt C (1.2 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) respectively.
- The C sequestration in the Prairie provinces is offset slightly by significant increases in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions due to increased fertilizer use. The result is a net reduction in GHG that is slightly less than the SOC sink. Figure 3 shows which provinces are impacted and the relative magnitude of change in GHG emissions. The aggregate reduction is 11% (6.5 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) of national emissions. Over 50% (3.4 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) of this reduction occurs in Saskatchewan due to the large area of land appropriate for conservation tillage.
- Increased zero tillage has no impact on IROWCN and minimal impact on RSN (less than 1% increase in several provinces). It should be noted that IROWCN and RSN models do not distinguish



between the three methods of tillage. This is likely to result in overstated nitrogen levels for zero tillage. Future work will involve the incorporation of tillage practices into these models.

14
- In the Prairie provinces, there is an approximate 10% reduction in the RWE indicator and even greater improvements in the RWDE indicator (Figure 4).
- The HA indicator is unaffected by zero tillage since land does not shift from one category to another.

An increase in zero tillage impacts SOC, GHG, RWDE and RWE, particularly in the Prairies. The impact on national GHG emissions may range from 4% (2.5 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent) to 17% (10.3 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent) reduction. Sensitivity analysis suggests the impact on RWE and RWDE indicators may vary considerably depending on the assumed adoption rate.

## 4.2.3 Reduce Summerfallow

Summerfallow is traditionally used in cropping rotations as a method of replenishing moisture in the soil in the Prairie regions. The summerfallow scenario, applied to western Canada only, assumes reduction in the frequency of summerfallow within a cropping rotation. Adoption rates vary by soil zone (see Appendix A). A medium adoption rate is assumed to translate into a 1.5 million hectare reduction in summerfallow relative to baseline levels. A reduction in summerfallow is expected to cause a decrease in GHG emissions, RWE and RWDE and increase HA. Lands converted from summerfallow to cropping leads to increased fertilizer use, which will have an offsetting effect on net GHG emissions. Net revenues for crop producers in this scenario were affected by differences in the costs and yields associated with planting on stubble as opposed to fallow land, and an increase in the land base used for crops. In general, the reduced yields tended to decrease crop net margins. Increased crop production due to the elimination of summerfallow also results in minor crop price reductions, which in turn promotes slight increases in livestock production and revenues due to lower feeding costs.

### Scenario Impacts

- Scientific studies indicate that the use of summerfallow, particularly tillage fallow, causes a loss of CO<sub>2</sub> from the soil. A reduction in summerfallow frequency reverses the organic C loss and results in C sequestration. Model results show an increase in SOC of 0.27 Mt C (1.0 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) in Alberta, 0.62 Mt C (2.3 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) in Saskatchewan and 0.09 Mt C (0.34 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) in Manitoba.
- The results indicate that the gains in SOC were partially offset by increased GHG emissions from fertilizer use, livestock production and on-farm fuel use. The net change is a decrease in emissions across all relevant provinces (Figure 5) except British Columbia, where the low rate of C



sequestration associated with reduced summerfallow relative to the Prairie provinces is not sufficient to offset increased emissions from fertilizer and livestock. The aggregate level of reduction is 4.1% (2.5 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) of national emissions. Approximately 66% (1.6 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) of the total reduction is achieved in Saskatchewan.



Π

- Changes in RSN are small approximately 1% or less (Figure 6).
- A decrease in summerfallow use results in an 11% reduction in the RWDE indicator for Alberta and Saskatchewan and has a lesser impact in Manitoba (Figure 7). Improvements in the RWE (2 to 5%) occur in all western provinces.
- Relative to other agricultural land uses, summerfallow provides the lowest level of wildlife support. The HA indicator suggests that a decrease in summerfallow, and thus an increase in other agricultural land use types, improves biodiversity in western Canada (Figure 8).

Model results indicate that a reduction in summerfallow use will have a positive impact on the environment in western Canada. The AEIs impacted by this scenario are SOC, GHG, RWDE and RWE. The reduction in national level GHG emissions ranges from 2% (1.0 Mt  $CO_2$ ) to 7% (4.0 Mt  $CO_2$ ). Sensitivity analysis shows adoption rates have little effect on the RWE indicator. The impact on RWDE varies from 5% to 17% for Alberta and 5% to 18% for Saskatchewan, little change occurs in Manitoba.

#### 4.2.4 Permanent Cover

Assumptions for this scenario were adapted from the existing Permanent Cover Programs. This scenario involves a shift of an additional 600,000 hectares of marginal cropland to permanent cover with perennial crops. Most of the marginal land is converted to improved pasture, with the remainder converted to hayland. Distribution of land converted to improved pasture or hayland varies by region, soil type, actual cultivated marginal lands and the distribution of grazing/hay to support beef animals. The scenario assumes a 2% increase in beef cattle numbers as an outlet for the increased forage production. Based on discussions with provincial experts from Ontario, beef cows are held at a constant level in Ontario in this scenario. Adoption rates for the increased permanent cover scenario are presented in Appendix A. Increased



permanent cover is expected to improve biodiversity and reduce soil erosion and GHG emissions. Shortterm costs associated with removing land from crop production and seeding it to permanent cover would likely be more than offset by the long term gains of increased beef production (after accounting for the startup costs of increased cattle operations).

#### Scenario Impacts.

- Permanent cover crops provide C sequestration potential; however, the model results indicate that the amount of C sequestration is relatively small across most provinces.
- The expected impact on GHG is ambiguous since an increase in cattle will likely accompany the increase in permanent cover crops. Permanent cover crops provide C sequestration potential while cattle generate emissions. The simulation indicates that although CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions increase due to the expanded cattle herd, the C sink is large enough to offset the increase. The result is a net decrease in GHG emissions across all provinces; however, for some the impact is negligible (Figure 9). Across Canada the reduction in GHG emissions is 1% (0.6 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent).
- Permanent cover results in a minimal impact on IROWCN and RSN indicators for most provinces. Small decreases in RSN occur across all provinces except Nova Scotia. Similar impacts in IROWCN occur in applicable provinces (Figure 10).
- The impact of this scenario on wind and water erosion is small, except in British Columbia where the risk of water erosion is reduced by approximately 5% (Figure 11). These results may be explained by the high concentration of hayland versus cropland in the British Columbia BAU case. Therefore, shifting small amounts of cropland into forage results in a relatively large percentage decrease in cropland, which is more susceptible to erosion than hayland.
- The shift in land types from relatively low to high HA (i.e. less summerfallow and more tame pasture) results in an increase in the AEIs across all provinces, except Newfoundland and Nova Scotia (Figure 12).

The Permanent Cover scenario is applicable to all provinces. In most cases, the indicators are moving in the desired direction; however, the impact is small. Sensitivity analysis indicates that adoption rates have little affect on AEIs.

### 4.2.5 Forage in Crop Rotations

This scenario assumes an increase in the land in forage production in all regions. It is expected that the rapid expansion of the livestock industry would create a market for the additional forage. To reflect the benefits





17

of forage in crop rotations, grain and oilseed yields were increased based on the amount of forageproduction in each crop district. (Grain and oilseed yields were assumed to increase more in areas with small forage levels where the benefits of forage in rotations would not yet have been achieved). Similar assumptions were used to estimate the effect of increased forage production on N fertilizer use for grain and oilseed production (see Appendix A). The scenario assumes conversion of 2% of cropland into forage production, with a corresponding 12% increase in the beef herd. The changes in direction of GHG emissions, IROWCN and RSN are ambiguous due to the increased cattle production, whereas the RWDE, RWE, and HA indicators are expected to improve.

#### Scenario Impacts

- An increase in forage use in crop rotations increases soil C sequestration across most provinces. The greatest impact occurs in the western provinces; however, the amount of C sequestered is more than offset by the increase in GHG emissions from the increase in livestock.
- The increased forage in crop rotations enhances C sequestration and reduces the amount of nitrogen fertilizer required for grain and oilseed production. However, while legume forages reduce fertilizer requirements, they also produce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. The results show an increase in GHG emissions in Alberta and Saskatchewan and slight decreases in some other provinces (Figure 13). The increases in emissions in Alberta and Saskatchewan and Saskatchewan are due to the rise in livestock numbers, which more than offset the GHG reductions from forage crops. Cattle increases also occur in Manitoba, but the high C sequestration rates in the black soil zone offsets these emissions.
- The RSN indictor decreases in the western provinces, and both RSN and IROWCN indicators decline in three of the four Atlantic Provinces (Figure 14).
- Model results show a small decrease in the RWDE indicator for the applicable provinces and a slight decrease in RWE indicator for the western provinces, Ontario and Quebec (Figure 15).
- Increased use of forage in crop rotations results in a higher HA for most provinces. This is due to the shift in land from summerfallow and cropland to hayland, which provides greater support for wildlife habitat (Figure 16).



Figure 14: Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations



Figure 15: Percentage Change in RWDE and RWE Indicators as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations



#### Figure 16: Percentage Change in the HA Indicator as a Result of Increased Forage in Crop Rotations



Increased use of forage in crop rotations has an impact on all AEIs. The impact on GHG is negligible for most provinces. However, in Alberta and Saskatchewan an increase in livestock numbers results in a relatively large increase in GHG emissions. The impact on the RSN and IROWCN indicators is minimal. Likewise, the increase in forage use in crop rotations results in a small improvement in the RWDE, RWE and HA indicators. Sensitivity analysis indicates that the AEI indicators are not greatly affected by varying adoption rates for this management scenario.

### 4.2.6 Terracing

The terracing scenario is applied to lands in potato rotations in Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick. In the 2000 Agri-Environmental Indicators report both Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick were identified as having areas with unsustainable levels of erosion. This scenario evaluates one strategy for resolving that problem. Terracing results in reduced water and nitrogen run-off as well as a reduction in soil erosion. The benefits of terracing promote more sustainable long-term production. Assumed adoption rates for Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick are 26% and 33% respectively. The expected impact of terracing is a reduction in IROWCN and soil erosion. The impact on RSN is not clear since the reduction in fertilizer applied combined with an increase in crop uptake will likely be offset by less nitrogen lost due to erosion.

#### Scenario Impacts

- Terracing is not expected to affect the level of SOC.
- Under terracing management, nitrogen application can be reduced by approximately 10% due to less nitrogen run-off. The impact on the GHG indicator is minimal since the decrease applies to a relatively small area of land.
- Up-down slope cultivation has been estimated to cause a 10% reduction in potato yields over a 33 year period (Cao et al., 1994). The use of terracing is expected to improve soil quality (maintaining long-term yields) by decreasing soil erosion by water. However, the impact could not be measured with the existing data structure for the RWE indicator.
- It is expected that terracing will improve water quality through less nitrogen run-off. The impact could not be measured with the IROWCN indicator due to the model structure. Based on unpublished data from Rees (2002), total nitrogen loss can be reduced from 37 kg/ha (15%) on up-down slope cultivation to 2 kg/ha (1%) under terracing.
- Terracing is expected to have no direct impact on the HA indicator.

The terracing scenario is applicable for lands in potato rotations in Prince Edward Island and New Brunswick. The impact of terracing could not be evaluated quantitatively using the models in this analysis due to the structure of the models. Further work may involve adjustment of these models for future measurement of the impacts of terracing on the AEIs.

## 4.2.7 Grazing Management - Rotational and Complementary Grazing

Rotational and complementary grazing systems decrease grazing intensity on native pastureland by supplementing tame pasture land. This results in an increase in forage quality on native pastureland and a decrease in feed requirements due to higher calf weaning weights. Rotational grazing is applied to moist tame pasture areas in western Canada and tame and native pasture lands in eastern Canada. Complementary grazing is applied to British Columbia, western Manitoba, northern Saskatchewan and northern and western Alberta. Assumed adoption rates for rotational and complementary grazing are 10% above BAU levels (see Appendix A). Grazing management strategies are expected to lead to a reduction in IROWCN and RSN and a decrease in GHG emissions.

#### **Scenario Impacts**

- Model results show a slight increase in SOC across most provinces as a result of an improved grazing management scenario.
- The impact of this scenario on GHG emissions is minimal - small decreases occur in western Canada, Ontario, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and Newfoundland (Figure 17).
- The impact of this scenario on the nitrogen indicators is minimal – the RSN indicator decreases by 4% in British Columbia and less than 1% in Alberta and New Brunswick (Figure 18). The IROWCN indicator is unchanged for all relevant provinces except for a small change in New Brunswick.
- The RWDE indicator declines slightly in western provinces (Figure 19). The impact in other provinces is negligible. The impact on RWE is greater in British Columbia due to a relatively large shift in crop and summerfallow area to tame pasture.
- For the majority of provinces, grazing management strategies have a small impact on the HA indicator (less than 1%). The largest change is a 2% increase in British Columbia.

The grazing management scenario is applied to relevant areas across all provinces. The largest impact on AEIs occurs in British Columbia. Similar to the permanent cover scenario, the high proportion of hayland to cropland mix may explain this result.

## 4.2.8 Combined Feeding Strategies

In this scenario, a number of feeding strategies are combined to reduce  $N_20$  emissions (and  $CH_4$  to a lesser extent) for manure from pigs, poultry and dairy cows. The simplest way to achieve a nitrogen reduction is to decrease dietary nitrogen (protein) intake. The following strategies apply to all regions of Canada (see Table A.10):

- A 15% decrease in the protein content of feed for hogs with the addition of free amino acids to balance protein results in a 15% increase in the cost per unit of feed.
- The addition of phytase to hog diets improves feeding efficiency by 5% to 10% resulting in a net 5% reduction in the cost per unit of feed.
- A 15% reduction of protein intake for poultry results in a 10% increase in the cost per unit of feed.





- Better matching of protein requirements for dairy cows results in a 10% reduction of nitrogen in the diet and a net cost decrease due to the costs for feed testing being offset by reductions in the use of protein supplements.
- Reducing protein in dairy diets and adding ruminally protected amino acids leads to a 20% reduction of nitrogen in the diet with an added cost for the amino acids.

There is little change in the crop mix for this scenario; however, a small decrease occurs in hog marketings due to slightly higher feed costs leading to a decrease in producer net margins.

#### Scenario Impacts

- This scenario does not impact the SOC indicator.
- GHG results indicate a national reduction of 1% (0.8 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent). Ontario and Quebec account for approximately 56% of the total reduction (Figure 20).
- The reduction in the RSN indicator occurs in most provinces (Figure 21). A larger impact is present in the eastern provinces than the western provinces. This may be explained by reduced hog production due to higher feed costs and reduced nitrogen excretion for livestock. A decrease in IROWCN occurs in the eastern provinces, with the greatest percentage change occurring in New Brunswick and Nova Scotia.
- RWDE and RWE models are not applicable for this scenario.
- The combined feeding scenario does not impact the HA indicator.

The combined feeding scenario is applicable to all provinces. The impact of this scenario is limited to the GHG, IROWCN and RSN indicators. Reductions in the GHG and nitrogen indicators are greatest in the eastern provinces.

## 4.2.9 Afforestation

The afforestation scenario assumes an increase in forest plantations on marginal agricultural lands across all provinces. Marginal land may include land unsuitable for agriculture, land too costly to farm, land that is more valuable in a forestry-related use than an agricultural use and/or land that is too environmentally sensitive for intensive agriculture. It is assumed that, if presented with a viable alternative such as forestry, the landowner will make the decision as to which lands are economically suitable for afforestation. An adoption rate of 50,000 hectares is assumed for all of Canada. The provincial share of the 50,000 hectares is given in Appendix A. Afforestation is expected to reduce GHG emissions through C sequestration and improve biodiversity. (Note: other afforestation activities for future analysis might include riparian buffers, windbreaks, shelterbelts, wildlife corridors, biodiversity enhancements plantings, silvopastoral systems and alley cropping.)



Figure 21: Percentage Change in IROWCN and RSN as a Result of Combined Feeding



#### **Scenario Impacts**

- The SOC indicator increases slightly in all provinces. Relatively large increases in British Columbia are caused by the higher proportion of land transferred from traditional agricultural activities to afforestation based on consultations with the Canadian Forest Service.
- Model results show a reduction in GHG emissions across all provinces (Figure 22). The largest reduction occurs in British Columbia for reasons mentioned above. Total national reduction from the afforestation scenario is approximately 1.7% (1.0 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent).
- The impact of the afforestation scenario on IROWCN and RSN indicators is limited. Both indicators decrease by approximately 1% in Prince Edward Island and RSN is reduced by approximately 2% in British Columbia.
- This scenario has a negligible impact on water erosion and no impact on wind erosion. The impact on water erosion could not be fully estimated due to the structure of the model not being able to capture forest cover values. While the impacts might be negligible due to the limited areas involved, local conversion of marginal areas to forest plantations may have some significant environmental benefits. Similar to the permanent cover scenario, the afforestation scenario may be dealing with some of the most degradation-prone soils/landscapes.
- Mixed forests have a higher habitat use associated with them than do agricultural land types (except native pasture), therefore conversion of marginal farmland to forest plantations is expected to have a positive impact on biodiversity. Results show an







increase in the HA index for British Columbia and the Atlantic provinces while all other provinces remain relatively unchanged (Figure 23) due to the small proportion of land involved.

The afforestation scenario is applied to all provinces. It has a moderate impact on GHG and a lesser impact on HA, IROWCN and RSN indicators. Sensitivity analysis shows that conversion of between 20,000 and 100,000 hectares of marginal land to forest plantations has the potential to reduce national GHG emissions by 0.7% (0.4 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) to 3.4% (2.0 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent).

23

# SECTION 5 COMBINED SCENARIO RESULTS

## 5.1 Combined Scenario

The results presented in the previous section were an estimation of the impacts of individual scenarios on the AEIs. To gain a clearer understanding of the overall impact of the suite of management scenarios, a combined scenario analysis was conducted. In the combined scenario, the CRAM optimization model is solved simultaneously for all scenarios, accounting for possible interaction among scenarios. A comparison of the individual and combined scenario results suggests that the impacts on the AEIs are essentially additive across scenarios. This section provides a summary of the combined analysis by indicator followed by a national summary of the combined scenario impacts. Table 3 summarizes the management scenarios included in the combined analysis and the provinces where these scenarios are applicable. Provincial summaries are presented in Appendix D.

	Nitrogen Matching	Zero Tillage	Summer- fallow	Permanent Cover	Forage Use in Crop Rotation	*Terrac- ing	Grazing Manage- ment	Feeding Strate- gies	Agro- for- estry
B.C.	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	✓
Alta.	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~
Sask.	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~
Man.	~	~	~	~	~		~	~	~
Ont.	~	~		~	V		~	~	~
Que.	~	~		~	V		~	~	~
N.S.		~		~	~		~	~	~
P.E.I.	~	~		~	V	~	~	~	~
N.B.	~	~		~	~	~	~	~	~
Nfld.		~		~	V		~	~	~

#### **Table 3: Summary of Relevant Management Scenarios by Province**

\*Due to the structure of the models, the terracing scenario could not be analyzed using the current models. Therefore, impacts of terracing are not incorporated into the combined scenario results.

## 5.2 Results

## 5.2.1 Soil Organic Carbon

The combined suite of environmental management scenarios results in an increase in the SOC indicator for all provinces (Table 4). Percentage changes are not reported due to sign changes from negative (SOC source) to positive (SOC sink) coefficients and vice versa. Management scenarios that contribute most to the improvement in SOC are conservation tillage, reduced summerfallow, forages in crop rotations, afforestation and to a lesser extent, grazing and permanent cover. Relatively large sinks in the Prairie provinces are due to the effect of conservation tillage and reduced summerfallow scenarios. It should be noted that C sequestration estimates for grazing management and afforestation, as well as for non-Prairie provinces under the zero-till scenario, were calculated external to CEEMA since the current version of the model does not handle these specifications.

The national change in SOC is an increase of 3.8 Mt C (14 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent). The impact ranges from 1.7 Mt C (6.2 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent) to 6.4 Mt C (23.4  $CO_2$  equivalent) for low and high adoption rates respectively.

	\$00	:	Net GHG Reduction (including SOC sink)
Province	<b>'000 tonnes Carbon</b>	Mt CO <sub>2</sub> equiv.	Mt CO <sub>2</sub> equiv.
B.C.	114	0.42	0.44
Alta.	965	3.53	2.93
Sask.	1966	7.20	5.10
Man.	562	2.06	1.97
Ont.	109	0.40	0.89
Que.	97	0.36	0.72
N.B.	7	0.03	0.04
P.E.I.	8	0.03	0.05
N.S.	6	0.02	0.03
Nfld.	1	0.004	0.004

## Table 4: Change in SOC and Net Change in GHG for the Combined Scenario

## 5.2.2 GHG Emissions

Model results for the combined scenario show a reduction in the GHG indicator for all provinces (Figure 24). Absolute and relative reductions in GHG emissions are greater in western Canada than in eastern Canada. This can be explained by scenarios such as zero tillage and summerfallow, which have relatively large impacts on GHG emissions (via C sequestration) in the Prairies and British Columbia due to high adoption rates and large areas of cropland.

The total national GHG emissions reduction is 20% (12 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent). The range of GHG reduction is between 9% (5 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent) and 33% (20 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent), depending on the assumed adoption rate. Saskatchewan alone accounts for 42% (5.1 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent) of the national reduction.

Alberta and Manitoba account for another 40% (4.9 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent). The individual scenario analysis in the previous section, revealed that increased zero tillage, reduced summerfallow and better nitrogen matching contribute the most to the reduction of GHG indicators.

### 5.2.3 Risk of Water Contamination by Nitrogen and RSN

The suite of environmental management scenarios results in a decrease in IROWCN in the eastern provinces (IROWCN is not applicable for western provinces) and a decrease in the RSN indicator in all provinces (Figure 25). The average change in IROWCN for the eastern provinces is approximately 12% and the national change in RSN is 11%. Sensitivity analysis for RSN indicates a national range of impact between 6% and 15%. Nitrogen matching and combined feeding are the main scenarios driving these changes. These scenarios are targeted specifically at reducing nitrogen use for crops and livestock.

## 5.2.4 Risk of Wind and Water Erosion

The RWDE indicator is applicable only in the Prairie provinces where the land is relatively flat and there are few trees or obstructions to act as wind barriers. Results indicate that the suite of management scenarios reduce wind erosion in all three Prairie provinces, with the greatest change in Alberta (Figure 26). The main scenarios impacting the RWDE are conservation tillage, reduced summerfallow and increased permanent cover. The range of impact varies considerably depending on adoption rates - a range of 18% to 58% in Alberta, 14% to 44% in Saskatchewan and 11% to 47% in Manitoba.

The RWE indicator is relevant in all provinces except Newfoundland. The impact on the indicator is larger in the western provinces (15% to 19%) than eastern provinces (0.5% to 3%) (Figure 26). This is likely explained by the additional impact in western provinces resulting from the conservation tillage, reduced summerfallow and grazing management scenarios. Other scenarios that impact the RWE in most provinces are permanent cover and increased forage in crop rotation.



Figure 24: Percentage Change in GHG Emissions









## 5.2.5 Habitat Availability

The HA indicator is applicable for all provinces. The combined scenario results show a positive impact on biodiversity across all provinces (Figure 27) with an overall national increase in the biodiversity index of 6%. Results from the low and high scenarios show an increase range of 3% to 10%. Similar to the GHG and RWE indicators, a larger impact occurs in the West than the East, which is due to a greater shift in land use types (i.e. shifts from cropland and summerfallow to hay and pasture). This is most prominent in the reduced summerfallow, increased permanent cover and increased forage scenarios.

## 5.3 National Summary

The overall result of the combined suite of environmental management scenarios is a movement of the AEIs in the desired direction at both provincial and national levels. These results are driven by the change in land use and livestock levels, which are determined by the economic optimization model (CRAM). A national summary of land use and livestock changes from the baseline is presented in Figure 28. The figure shows a shift in land use from summerfallow to hayland and tame pasture. The increase in hayland and tame pasture is accompanied by an increase in beef cows.

The national changes in land use and livestock numbers, as a result of the combined management scenario, are translated into changes in AEIs as represented in Figure 29. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low and high adoption rates. The black square marker represents results under medium adoption rates.

Indicators for RWDE, RWE and IROWCN are not included in Figure 29 since national totals are not applicable. For the RWDE and RWE indicators, national summaries are not meaningful or relevant. The IROWCN cannot be summed nationally since it is currently applicable for eastern provinces only. The average impact on the RWDE indicator for the Prairie provinces ranges from a 11% to 58% reduction for low



and high adoption rates respectively. Average changes in the IROWCN indicator range from a 3% to 22% decrease for low and high adoption rates respectively. The RWE indicator varies substantially across provinces, with the greatest impacts in the west.

It should be understood that the environmental management scenarios are designed to be a package, therefore, these results should not be used to manipulate certain indicators in isolation of others. For example, a scenario may produce a large reduction in GHG emissions, but may have negligible or

26

undesirable impacts on water quality. Likewise, some scenarios may have a desirable impact on water quality, but fail to impact air quality. The suite of environmental management scenarios are intended to work together to produce an overall increase in air, soil and water quality and biodiversity.

29

# SECTION 6 SUMMARY AND LIMITATIONS

The results of this analysis reveal that the environmental management scenarios are estimated to have a desirable impact on the AEIs. Air quality is improved through the reduction of GHG emissions by 20% (12 Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent) from baseline levels. An improvement in soil quality is represented by the reduction in RSN, RWDE and RWE indicators. RSN decreases by 11% and the reductions in IROWCN, RWDE and RWE vary according to province. Biodiversity, in terms of wildlife habitat availability, increases by 6% across Canada. Results were also generated for three levels of adoption rates to give an indication of the sensitivity of the AEIs to varying degrees of scenario implementation.

As part of the APF Agreement, ministers must aim to "achieve measurable and meaningful environmental goals in the areas of water, air and soil quality." This analysis demonstrates how we can predict the quantitative impacts of agricultural practices on the environment and is therefore useful for two main reasons. First, it quantifies the impact of various management practices on water, air and soil quality and biodiversity through measurable and meaningful indicators. Second, it assists in identifying appropriate environmental goals by providing an indication of achievable outcomes as a result of environmental management practices.

It is important to note that the environmental management scenarios chosen for this analysis are not necessarily the scenarios that should or will be chosen to meet the APF goals. The intention of this analysis is to demonstrate the type and level of information that can be generated to assist in the process of developing environmental targets. These results should not be translated into stated outcomes.

There are several limitations of this analysis that policy-makers must be aware of when using this information to assist in policy decisions.

First, the GHG indicator is relatively sensitive to the environmental management scenarios since a significant amount of resources have been invested into developing this model for predictive capacity. The other AEIs are grosser in scale and lack the detail that is required for more meaningful measurement and prediction of environmental impacts. Future work will involve further development of agrienvironmental indicators to enable a more accurate analysis of the environmental impacts of various management practices.

Second, IROWCN is an annual budget model containing a number of assumptions and generalisations. It is currently used as an "indicator" and provides some broad-level regional comparisons. A number of limitations and areas for improvement have been identified:

 Available weather data lacks the critical evapotranspiration and water holding capacity values for a number of soil landscape polygons. Nitrogen application rates are based on recommended rates adjusted by provincial sales figures and manure application rates are based on the total number of livestock within a polygon and assumed uniform distribution. Since these parameters have a great deal of influence on IROWCN and RSN output values, they should be checked, expanded and improved from the literature, scientific expertise or measured data.

- Currently, IROWCN is calculated for the eastern provinces only, however work is underway to extend the indicator for use in the western provinces.
- The current model does not include practices such as no-till or terracing. Since conservation practices are a fundamental component of scenario generation, this aspect should be incorporated.
- Legume fixation and soil-atmosphere-nitrogen interactions (volatilization, denitrification, mineralization) have a significant influence on the amount of RSN thus on the risk of water contamination. These processes are handled in a rather cursory manner in IROWCN and the coefficients need to be evaluated and improved where new research results apply.

Third, using the current economic model (CRAM) and environmental indicators, it is difficult or sometimes impossible to account for spatial differences that might occur. CRAM is a regional economic model disaggregated by provinces with the exception of the crop component for the Prairies which consists of 22 regions. By contrast, most of the AEIs are based on Soil Landscape of Canada (SLC) polygons that are much smaller than the CRAM regions. Better analytical tools are needed to more realistically apply the production changes generated by CRAM to the SLC (or lower) level for improved estimation of the impacts on AEIs. A Land Use Allocation Model (LUAM) is being developed to help address this issue. Enhancements to the structure of CRAM are required such as division of Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia into multiple regions. An example of other required changes to the model includes extension of the split of zero tillage, moderate tillage and conventional tillage practices to non-Prairie provinces.

Fourth, the choice of scenarios for analysis was limited by the availability of existing models for measurement, which resulted in the exclusion of several important management options. Manure management and riparian zones are two such examples identified by AAFC experts and scientists as important to agriculture in terms of environmental impacts. In future work, it will be necessary to develop indicators for other key management areas.

Finally, explicit cost estimates for the various scenarios are not provided in this report although some estimates of producer surplus were generated by CRAM for this analysis. However, it is recognized that there are problems with the results, which require further investigation. The costs are significantly overestimated for some scenarios involving imposed changes to the land base since the model reflects short-run costs based on upward sloping marginal cost curves. Hence, as the solution moves away from an optimal land use allocation (i.e. the 2008 baseline), costs increase and producer surplus decreases. The model did not account for longer-term adjustments within the sector, which would have impacts on the marginal cost curves in CRAM. Also, some start-up costs were not factored into several of the scenarios (e.g. increasing the cattle herd for the permanent cover scenario). Other studies and analysis provide a basis upon which to provide estimates that better reflect the longer-term financial implications for the sector - these have not yet been factored into the model. For some key mitigation strategies (e.g. greater use of no-till), short-term costs could be replaced by benefits over the longer term indicating that best management practices often provide longer term economic incentives; however, initial cost impediments need to be overcome. Information regarding the costs and benefits of various environmental management practices is critical to policy development and is therefore a necessary part of future work.

31

# APPENDIX A SCENARIO ASSUMPTIONS

## Table A.1: Assumptions for Nitrogen Matching Scenario

	20	08 BAU		2008 Al	ternative	
Applicable Region         Atlantic (N.B. & P.E.I.)         Quebec         Ontario         Prairies & B.C. (Peace River Region)         B.C. (Interior & Lower Mainland)			A1. Cereals a A2. Split N a Q1. Reduce O1. Reduce P1. Reduce F BC1. Reduce	after Potato pplications N on Corn N on Corn all N Appli N on Corr	oes s on Potatoes (grain & silage (grain & silage cation 1	e) e)
Adoption Rate	Fertilizer Ap	plication on	Assume 100 where reduc	% adoption tion is app	n in 2008 for ti propriate	he area
	Frame Crops	\$ 	Fertilizer App		Modium	High
	Current and	700/	Consider a	LUW		<b>nign</b>
	spring	70%	spring	80%	90%	100%
	Fall	30%	Fall	20%	10%	0%
Productivity			No yield imp efficiency	oacts from i	increased man	agement
Input Use (Kg/ha of N)			Low			
Atlantic Quebec Ontario Prairies & B.C. (Peace River Region) B.C. (Interior & Lower Mainland)			A1. Reduce b A2. Reduce b Q1. Reduce b P1. Reduce f BC1. Reduce b A2. Reduce b A2. Reduce b Q1. Reduce b Q1. Reduce b P1. Reduce f BC1. Reduce f BC1. Reduce b BC1. Reduce b A2. Reduce b BC1. Reduce b BC1. Reduce b BC1. Reduce b BC1. Reduce b A1. Reduce b	by 10 kg/ha by 30 kg/ha by 15 kg/ha by 15 kg/ha ertilizer by by 50 kg/ha by 20 kg/ha by 30 kg/ha by 30 kg/h by 30 kg/h ertilizer by e by 50 kg/ha by 20 kg/ha	a a on 30% of ar a attached % ha on 30% of a a a on 50% of ar a attached % ha on 55% of a	ea rea ea area
			A2. Reduce b Q1. Reduce O1. Reduce P1. Reduce f BC1. Reduce	by 30 kg/ha by 30 kg/h by 30 kg/h ertilizer by by 50 kg/l	a on 70% of ar a a attached % ha on 70% of a	ea area
Cost of Production						
Atlantic Quebec Ontario Prairies & B.C. (Peace River Region) B.C. (Interior & Lower Mainland)			A1. Soil testi A2. Soil testi Q1. Soil testi O1. Soil testi P1. N is 12% BC1. Soil test	ng @\$25/h ng @\$25/h ing @\$25/h ing @\$25/h more cost ting \$25/h	ia na na Iy in spring vs a	fall.

Table A.2: Impacts of Reducing Fall Application on Fertilizer Use and Costs (Nitrogen Matching Scenario)

		Soil Zone D	istribution				Fertilizer A	pplications		
	Black	Dark Brown	Brown	Grev	20% Fall/8	0% Spring	10% Fall/9	0% Spring	0% Fall/10	0% Spring
Efficiency of Fall vs Spring	73%	86%	%26	63%	Fertilizer Use Adjust- ment	Cost Adjust- ment	Fertilizer Use Adjust- ment	Cost Adjust- ment	Fertilizer Use Adjust- ment	Cost Adjust- ment
BC.1				1.00	0.96	0.97	0.93	0.94	0.89	0.91
AB.1			1.00		1.00	1.01	0.99	1.02	0.99	1.03
AB.2		0.80	0.20		0.99	1.00	0.98	1.00	0.96	1.00
AB.3	0.90	0.10			0.97	0.98	0.95	0.97	0.92	0.95
AB.4		0.50	0.50		0.99	1.00	0.98	1.00	0.97	1.01
AB.5	0.50			0.50	0.97	0.98	0.94	0.95	0.90	0.93
AB.6				1.00	0.96	0.97	0.93	0.94	0.89	0.91
AB.7				1.00	0.96	0.97	0.93	0.94	0.89	0.91
SK.1	0.80	0.10	0.10		0.98	0.99	0.95	0.97	0.93	0.96
SK.2	0.15	0.15	0.70		0.99	1.00	0.98	1.01	0.98	1.01
SK.3			1.00		1.00	1.01	0.99	1.02	0.99	1.03
SK.4		0.10	0.90		1.00	1.01	0.99	1.01	0.99	1.02
SK.5	1.0				0.97	0.98	0.95	0.96	0.92	0.95
SK.6	0.10	0.90			0.98	0.99	0.97	0.99	0.95	0.98
SK.7		0.60	0.40		0.99	1.00	0.98	1.00	0.97	1.00
SK.8	1.00				0.97	0.98	0.95	0.96	0.92	0.95
SK.9	0.90	0.10			0.97	0.98	0.95	0.97	0.92	0.95
MB.1	1.0				0.97	0.98	0.95	0.96	0.92	0.95
MB.2	0.90	0.10			0.97	0.98	0.95	0.97	0.92	0.95
MB.3	1.0				0.97	0.98	0.95	0.96	0.92	0.95
MB.4	1.0				0.97	0.98	0.95	0.96	0.92	0.95
MB.5	0.80	0.20			0.98	0.98	0.95	0.97	0.93	0.95
MB.6	0.80			0.20	0.97	0.98	0.94	0.96	0.91	0.94

	2008	BAU		2008 Alt	ernative	
Applicable Region				All provinces	;	
Adoption Rate	Zero till	BAU	Zero till	Low	Medium	High
	B.C.	14%	B.C.	19%	22%	25%
	Alta.	28%	Alta.	38%	53%	67%
	Sask.	39%	Sask.	49%	62%	70%
	Man.	13%	Man.	23%	37%	61%
	Ont.	27%	Ont.	28%	29%	39%
	Que.	5%	Que.	12%	18%	29%
	N.B.	3%	N.B.	4%	5%	6%
	N.S.	2%	N.S.	3%	4%	5%
	P.E.I.	2%	P.E.I.	2%	3%	5%
	Nfld.	2%	Nfld.	2%	3%	4%
Productivity			No changes in cr	op yields fror	n increase in soil	carbon
Input Use			CRAM cost struct Prairies–zero tilla but requires mor N fertilizer was ir new land under	ture varies by ge tends to h e chemical in ncreased by 1 zero tillage	tillage regime fo ave lower machi puts. 0% over the BAU	r the ne expenses baseline for
Cost of Production			No change from	2008 BAU ba	seline.	

# Table A.3: Assumptions for Zero Tillage Scenario

34

	2008	BAU			2008	Alterna	tive		
Applicable Region				Prai	ries and B	.C. (Peace R	iver Regio	า)	
Adoption Rate	Soil ze	one	Soil zone			20008	Scenar	io	
				Low		Mediun	n	High	
		M.ha		M.ha	%	M.ha	%	M.ha.	%
	Black/Gray	1.2	Black/Gray	0.9	-25	0.6	-50	0.3	-75
	Dark Brown	1.1	Dark Brown	0.9	-20	0.7	-40	0.5	-60
	Brown	1.6	Brown	1.5	-10	1.1	-30	0.8	-50
	Prairies	3.9	Prairies	3.2	-17	2.4	-39	1.5	-60
Productivity				No crop	yield imp	acts from in	crease in s	oil organic	carbon.
Input Use				In CRAN or sumn	1, the cost nerfallow.	structure di No change	iffers for cı from BAU	ops grown baseline.	on stubble
Cost of Production				No char	ige from E	BAU baseline			

## Table A.4: Assumptions for Decreased Use of Summerfallow Scenario

	2008 BAU		2008 Alt	ernative			
Applicable Region		All provinces					
Adoption Rate		Assume adoption across Canada. Di varies by region, s of grazing/hay to s Increase (above B/	of Permanent Cover Pr stribution of land conv oil type, actual cultivat support beef animals. AU) in permanent cove	ogram targeted at u erted to improved pa ed marginal lands ar r by province (ha)	p to 1,000,000 ha asture or hayland nd the distribution		
		Province	Low	Medium	High		
		B.C.	16,240	24,354	40,590		
		Alta.	130,900	196,350	327,240		
		Sask.	176,480	264,720	441,210		
		Man.	41,590	62,380	103,970		
		Ont. 20,950 31,430 52,380					
		Que. 10,760 16,130 26,890					
		N.B. 1,050 1,560 2,600					
		P.E.I.	1,289	1,930	3,210		
		N.S.	560	850	1,410		
		Nfld.	140	210	360		
		Canada	400,000	600,000	1,000,000		
Productivity		No crop or forage	yield impacts.				
		Increase beef cattle increase in similar	e herd so that provincia proportions.	al forage inventories	and beef cattle		
Input Use		No change in inpur reduction in amou	it use per hectare but t int of cropland.	otal input use will d	ecline due to		
Cost of Production		No change from B	AU.				

|--|

Note: As requested by Ontario only, beef herd was held constant.

36

	2008 BAU		2008 Alte	ernative	
Applicable Region		All regions.			
Adoption Rate		High	1.24 million hectar	es (3% of current cropl	and)
		Medium	0.82 million hectar	es (2% of current crop	land
		Low	0.41 million hectar	es (1% of current cropl	and)
Productivity					
Ratio of hayland: Crop- land was calculated for each crop district based on 1996 data.		Yield increase	н	layland: cropland (%	%)
			<10%	10%-25%	>25%
		<b>High</b> Grains & Oilseeds Hay	3.33% 3.33%	1.67% 1.67%	0.67% 0.67%
		<b>Medium</b> Grains & Oilseeds Hay	2.22% 2.22%	1.11% 1.11%	0.44% 0.44%
		<b>Low</b> Grains & Oilseeds Hay	1.11% 1.11%	0.56% 0.56%	0.22% 0.22%
Input Use		Nitrogen fertilizer use	н	layland: cropland (%	⁄o)
			<10%	10%-25%	>25%
		<b>High</b> Grains & Oilseeds	-6.66%	-2.66%	-1.33%
		<b>Medium</b> Grains & Oilseeds	-4.44%	-1.77%	-0.89%
		<b>Low</b> Grains & Oilseeds	-2.22%	-0.89%	-0.44%
Cost of Production		Costs same as 2008 B/ crops.	AU baseline except for c	hange in fertilizer use c	on grain and oilseed

## Table A.6: Assumptions for Increased Forage in Crop Rotation Scenario

Note: As requested by Manitoba only, adoption rates were decreased by 1/3.

Table	A.7:	Assumptions	for	Terracing	Scenario
-------	------	-------------	-----	-----------	----------

	2008 BAU		2008 A	lternative		
Applicable Region		Land in potato rot	ations in P.E.I.	and New Brunswick	<	
Adoption Rate			Low	Medium	High	
	P.E.I. 11% N.B. 18%	P.E.I. N.B.	16% 23%	26% 33%	36% 43%	
Productivity		Increased yields d	ue to less wate	r N run-off.		
		Increased yields in	the long-run o	due to less soil erosi	on.	
Input Use		Less N required due to less nitrogen run-off				
Cost of Production		Initial capital cost of approximately \$375/ha in P.E.I. \$700/ha in N.B.				
		If properly maintained, a terracing system will last indefinitely.				
		Increase costs by \$	25/ha to reflee	ct annual maintenai	nce costs.	
		Additional costs m ment operating ef (\$50/ha.)	ay include an officiency due to	estimated 20% redu crossing grassed w	uction in equip- vaterways	

	2008 BAU	:	2008 Alternative		
Applicable Region		B.C., W.Manitoba, N.	Saskatchewan, N. and W. A	Alberta	
	BAU 40%	<b>Low</b> 45%	Medium 50%	High 60%	
		Assume a direct relation improved manageme moved from hayland	onship between percent o nt and pasture quality. Ass to tame pasture.	f land affected by sume land is	
Productivity		Forage yields on appl 50% in the newly ado	icable native pastureland v opted area.	will increase by	
		Cattle productivity wi weights, reflected in l	ill increase in terms of high ower feed demand (see in	er weaning put use).	
		To further reflect the higher pasture quality, increase calving rate by 4.8% on applicable land base (increased calving rate of 4 more calves/84 cows)			
Input Use		In CRAM, adjust down feeders to reflect high quality:	nward feed grain and forag er weaning weights due to	ge demands of o higher forage	
		500 kg/yr less feed required (0.5 kg/daily gain 25 kg larger wean- ing weight =50 less days of feed; -50 days*10 kg/day feed diet =-500)			
		Increase in seed and f	ertilizing requirements.		
Cost of Production		Lower feed costs as de	escribed above.		
		\$10/ha increase in costenance costs.	sts for fence upkeep and o	ther related main-	

## Table A.8: Assumptions for Grazing Scenario: Complementary Grazing

	2008 BAU	2008 Alternative
Applicable Region		Applicable regions:
	A. No legumes or N fertilizer used, contin- uous grazing	A. Western tame pasture (moist) B. Eastern tame pasture C. Eastern native pasture
	B. Legumes and N fer- tilizer used, continu- ous grazing	A. Use rotational grazing, with legumes in rotation, no fertilizer, reseed every 5 years). B. Use rotational grazing, continue using legumes, but
	C. No legumes or fer- tilizer used, continu- ous grazing	eliminate use of N fertilizer C. Use rotational grazing, add P, K, lime, no legumes.
Adoption Rate	BAU 50%	Low         Medium         High           55%         60%         70%
Productivity		Improved management of soil fertility by use of rotational grazing and added legumes will improve both the efficiency of the use of the forage and the quality of the forage. This may be reflected via a discretionary increase in yields in the applica- ble regions. Increase yields by 50% on pasture and unimproved pastures in impacted areas (this is 5%, 2.5%, 5% respectively, in the over- all area of the regions covered by A, B, and C above).
Input Use		Higher use of fuel, electricity and fencing inputs. Further to this, in the specified regions there is an additional use of seed, but now no N fertilizer is used. May need more P, K, and lime.
Cost of Production		Initial fixed cost of approx \$50/ha (\$15,000) for a 300 ha farm for all regions, plus:
		1) \$10/ha increase in costs (based on \$3000 / 300 ha for fuel, fence, upkeep and electricity for maintenance of rotational system).
		2) \$42/ha net fall in costs (based on \$10/ha increase in operat- ing costs, but also \$52/ha lower costs due to no fertilizer (-85 kg N fertilizer /ha/yr * \$0.619/kg)).
		3) \$0.50/ha cost increase (\$150/300) ha for fuel, repairs, P, K, and lime.

## Table A.9: Assumptions for Grazing Scenario: Rotational Grazing

## Table A.10: Assumptions for Combined Feeding Scenario

	2008 BAU	:	2008 Alternativ	e
Applicable Region		All regions of C	anada	
Adoption Rate	0%	<b>Low</b> 20%	Medium 40%	High 60%
Productivity		Hogs a. Reducing pro on animal perfe b. Adding phyt ciency 5 –10%. Dairy Cows a. Better match impact on yield b. Reducing pro ruminally prote yield. Poultry a. Reducing pro growth perforr plemented with	otein intake has no ac ormance. ase to diet improves ing of protein requir l. otein requirements a ected amino acids ha otein intake will not a nance if diets are app n free amino acids.	dverse impacts feeding effi- ements has no nd adding s no impact on adversely affect propriately sup-
Input Use		Hogs a. Reducing proprotein conten- to balance prot b. Adding phyt baseline. Dairy Cows a. Protein matc diet. b. Reducing pro- tected amino a diet, and additi Poultry a. Reducing pro- protein in diet.	otein intake: 15% dec t. Inclusion of free ar ein. ase to diet: no chang hing: 10% reduction otein and adding rur cids: 20% reduction on of amino acids to otein intake:15% redu	crease in nino acids e from BAU of N in ninally pro- of N in diet. uction of
Cost of Production		Hogs a. Reducing p per unit of feed b. Addition of unit of feed fro Dairy Cows a. Protein ma protein supplet Increase feed te cost decrease of b. Reducing p protected amin supplement (in testing at \$15/c balance rations of ruminally pr about \$45.00 / of \$16.25/dairy Poultry a. Reducing p unit of feed from	protein intake: 15% ir from BAU. phytase: 5% reducti m BAU. tching: 10% reductic ment (included in ca esting at \$10/dairy co f \$28.12 /dairy cow/ protein and adding ru to acids: 20% reducti cluded in cash costs cow/year (additional on an amino acid bu otected amino acids dairy cow/year. Net r cow/year. protein intake: 10% ir m BAU.	ncrease in cost ion in cost per on in use of sh costs). ow/year. Net year. uminally ion in protein ). Increase feed \$5/cow/year to asis). The cost is \$0.15/day or cost decrease increase in cost/

# Table A.11: Assumptions for Afforestation Scenario

	2008 BAU	2008 Alternative
Applicable Region		All Provinces
Adoption Rate Regional planting shares are based on consultations with the Canadian Forest Service		Canada           Low         = 20,000 ha           Medium         =50,000 ha           High         = 100,000 ha           Provinces         B.C.           B.C.         26%           Prairies         43%           Ont.         13%           Que.         13%           Atlantic         5%
Productivity		No effect on yield, remove afforested land from agricultural production.
Input Use		Eliminate agricultural inputs. Increase forestry inputs.
Cost of Production		Hybrid Species = \$2150/ha Traditional Species = \$1550/ha (Source: Terry Hatton, CFS, 2002).
Additional Assumptions		Tree Species: hybrid poplar / mixture of tradi- tional species in each region. Planting Ramp-up: 5 year planting schedule (yr 1: 10% / yr 2: 10% / yr 3: 20% / yr 4: 30% / yr 5: 30%). CO <sub>2</sub> Results: calculations are for above and below ground biomass. No CO <sub>2</sub> losses from site preparation activities (i.e. assumes no current vegetation on site prior to afforestation). Planted areas do not suffer any losses from natural disturbances (i.e. fire, insects, disease). Harvesting does not occur within the first 25 years.

Table B.1: Crosswalk of Provinci Analysis	al En	vironm	ental 1	largets	s by Major	APF Goa	and	AAFC 1	<b>Farget</b>	
APF Goals	B.C	Alta.	Sask.	Man.	Ont.	Que.	N.B.	N.S.	P.E.I.	Nfld.
1. Environmental Risk Assessment and										
• Environmental Farm Plans (FEP)/	Yes	T.B.D.	No	No	T.B.D.	Yes	Yes	Yes	T.B.D.	Yes
Conservation Clubs	3									
<ul> <li>Watershed Management Plans</li> </ul>	No	No	No	No	Part of NMP	No	No	No	*	*
2. Nutrient Management (Pathogens)										
<ul> <li>Nutrient Management Plans (NMP)</li> </ul>	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	T.B.D.	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Manure Management (Best Management Practices)	Yes	Yes	No	No	Part of NMP	Yes	Yes	Soil testing	*	*
<ul> <li>keeping field records for manure applications</li> </ul>	*	*	No	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
<ul> <li>soil testing (residual nitrogen in NB)</li> </ul>	*	*	Yes	*	Part of NMP	*	Yes	Yes	*	Yes
<ul> <li>adjusting mineral fertilizer applica- tion rates</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	Yes
Fertilizer Management (BMP)	Yes	T.B.D.	٩	No	*	Yes	Yes	adjust rates	*	*
<ul> <li>appropriate fertilizer application methods</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
<ul> <li>leak-proof/adequate manure storage</li> </ul>	Yes	*	*	*	*	Yes	Yes	*	*	Yes
<ul> <li>liquid manure storage capacity</li> </ul>	Yes	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
<ul> <li>minimum set-back distances (ade- quate buffers)</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	Part of NMP	*	*	*	*	Yes
<ul> <li>adequate land available for safe manure spreading</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
3. Pest Management										
Integrated Pest Management (IPM)	No	N	No	°N N	Yes (sector and region)	Yes (grains/ corn/sov)	°N N	Yes	*	*
Pesticide (BMP)	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	*	Yes	Certifi- cation	*	*
<ul> <li>economic injury or pest monitoring as decision-tool</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
<ul> <li>calibrate sprayers annually</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
Total Volume of Pesticide Sold	*	*	No	*	No	*	*	*	Yes	*
<ul> <li>Lower Toxicity Pesticides</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	No	*	*	*	Yes	*
<ul> <li>Non-Chemical Pest Control</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
<ul> <li>Certified Applicator/Safety Training</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	*	Yes	*	Yes
<ul> <li>Adequate Setback from Watercourses</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes
Organic Farming Practices	*	*	*	*	*	T.B.D.	*	*	Yes	*

APPENDIX B Provincial Crosswalk

get	
Tar	
AFC	
¥ N	
anc	
ioal	
Б	
ΓAF	
lajo	
∑ ≥	
its b	
arge	
al T <sub>5</sub>	
ent	
mno	
viro	
Ш	
ncia	
ovir	
f Pr	
Т Ко	
swa	sis.
ros:	halv
ບ 	٩
ю.	
<u>e</u>	
Tak	

44

APF Goals	B.C.	Alta.	Sask.	Man.	Ont.	Que.	N.B.	N.S.	P.E.I.	Nfld.
4. Land and Water Management										
Bare Soil Days	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	No	*	*
Conservation Tillage Practices (No-till)	Peace Riv.	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	° N	*	*	Yes
Reduce Soil Compaction (NS)	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	*
Reduce Soil Erosion	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	Yes
<ul> <li>Reduced Summerfallow</li> </ul>	*	Yes	Yes	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Tame Hay Pasture	*	*	Yes	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Controlled Livestock Access to Surface Water	No	*	No	*	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Riparian BMP (buffer zones)	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	*	*	Yes
Irrigation BMP	Yes	T.B.D.	No	No	Low priority	No-N/A	No	Yes	*	*
Sustainable Grazing Practices	No	Yes	No	Yes	*	No	No	No	*	*
Wildlife BMP	No	Yes	No	No	Low priority	No	No	No	*	*
Cropland with Tile Drainage (BC)	No	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Soil Testing (NB)	*	*	Yes	*	*	*	Yes	Yes	*	*
Residual Nitrogen (NB)	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	*	*
Soil Testing (Phosphorous) (NB)	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	*	*
Crop Residue Management (Sask.)	*	*	No	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Sustainable Soil and Crop Manage- ment (MB)	*	*	*	Yes	*	*	*	*	*	*
Database of inventory of sensitive/vul-	*	*	*	*	Yes	*	*	*	*	*
nerable land use (Ont.)										
<ul> <li>Increase Quality of Forest</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	Yes	*
<ul> <li>Maintain Quality of Pastoral Land- scape</li> </ul>	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	T.B.D.	*
5. Nuisance Management										
Odour Management	*	T.B.D.	No	Yes	If NM Act passes	Yes	Yes	Yes	*	*
Particulate (dust) Management	*	T.B.D.	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	*	*
Nuisance Complaints Resolved	Yes	*	*	*	If NM Act passes	*	Yes	*	*	*
Yes - indicates that numerical targets have beer No - indicates that no numerical targets have b * - indicates not applicable to region or not spt T.B.D. indicates "to be developed" at a future c	ר set. een set. ecified by date.	, province	-i							
Scenarios for which APF Target Analysis	Conduct	ed.								

			Ð	AM Result	S				Environm	ental Indica	itors	
rovince	Cropland	Summer- fallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Native Pasture	Beef Cows	Breed- ing Sows	GHG Emissions	SOC Sink	IROWCN	RSN	RWE
	e4 000,	e4 000,	e4 000,	e4 000,	e4 000,	P4 000,	PH 000,	,000 tonnes CO, eqiv.	'000 tonnes Carbon	6m I/N	kg N/ha	t/ha/ vear
e U	188	39	348	240	1.173	273	20	2,423	13		26.8	3.2
, q	186	35	401	233	1,208	280	18	2,293	45	N/A	24.2	3.2
ı U	192	30	401	233	1,208	298	21	2,573	40		29.3	3.2
Nta.	7,611	1,437	1,924	1.915	6,615	2,017	174	19,504	-141		23.9	2.6
	7,269	1,236	2,507	2,231	6,679	2,099	200	17,279	831	N/A	29.0	2.4
	7,503	1,029	2,480	2,231	6,679	2,235	227	18,431	948		28.3	2.2
ask	13,305	4,434	1,089	1,233	5,094	1,135	72	12,771	504		26.3	2.3
	14,304	3,133	1,517	1,406	5,127	1,215	109	9,811	1,849	N/A	30.3	2.1
	14,812	2,610	1,532	1,406	5,127	1,293	123	10,129	2,178		37.4	1.8
Jan.	3,944	324	749	356	1,654	510	178	8,521	-89		33.8	2.3
	3,297	256	877	383	1,580	563	288	8,099	112	N/A	40.4	2.2
	3,993	213	857	383	1,580	600	326	8,994	148		58.6	2.2
Dnt.	2,414		1,018	348	664	441	296	9,948	105	8.3	41.8	7.8
	2,576		1,013	313	532	376	356	9,469	150	8.5	42.7	8.3
	2,551		1,038	313	532	306	381	10,160	-11	9.0	44.9	7.6
Jue.	783		882	197	322	232	318	7,504	-72	3.8	20.6	4.5
	1,000		780	183	186	208	402	7,951	-155	4.2	23.1	5.2
	679		801	183	186	169	429	8,012	-153	4.6	24.9	5.1
4.B.	55		70	20	30	23	7	480		1.8	11.2	16.9
	59		79	18	27	20	13	496	9	2.3	14.1	17.8
	59		29	18	27	17	14	492	9	3.0	18.5	16.5
۶EI	112		55	12	15	16	12	540	-	3.8	24.5	7.9
	113		58	12	13	13	13	528	3	4.6	29.5	8.0
	112		59	12	13	11	14	523	3	4.1	26.8	8.0
4.S.	20		71	25	37	32	11	575	-	4.6	40.4	8.3
	21		75	23	33	27	11	554	0	4.9	43.0	9.3
	20		76	23	33	22	11	542	0	2.7	23.5	8.5
vfid.	0.28		9	2	7	-	0	202	0	9.2	69.9	
	0.52		7	3	7	-	0	209	0	10.1	76.9	N/A
	0.51		7	3	7	-	0	214	0	14.3	107.1	
Canada	28,432	6,234	6,211	4,349	15,612	4,681	1,089	62,468	321		29.9	
	29,456	4,660	7,315	4,805	15,391	4,802	1,411	56,688	2,842	N/A	32.8	N/A
	30,221	3,882	7,330	4,805	15,391	4,951	1,545	60,069	3,159		36.7	

Table C.1: 1996. 2001 and 2008 Baseline Results for CRAM and Agri-Environmental Indicators

# APPENDIX C MODEL RESULTS

<sup>a</sup>1996 Baseline <sup>b</sup>2001 Baseline <sup>c</sup>2008 Baseline

Province	1996	2001	2008
		(tonnes)	
B.C.	26,922	16,461	33,652
Alta.	430,783	508,287	538,478
Sask.	517,829	543,998	647,286
Man.	312,350	326,933	390,437
Ont.	173,884	162,513	168,422
Que.	88,207	94,719	92,775
Atlantic	26,237	29,161	27,625

 Table C.2:
 Fertilizer Sold: Nitrogen Content for 1996, 2001 and 2008 (tonnes)

Table C.3: Zero Tillage Baseline Adoption Rates for 1996, 2001 and 2008

Province	1996	2001	2008
		Percent	
B.C.	10	14	14
Alta.	10	27	28
Sask.	22	39	39
Man.	9	13	13
Ont.	18	27	27
Que.	4	5	5
N.B.	2	3	3
P.E.I.	2	2	2
N.S.	3	8	2
Nfld.	4	12	2

			J	<b>CRAM Results</b>					Environmental	Indicators	
Province	Cropland	Summer- fallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Native Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	GHG Emissions	soc sink	IROWCN	RSN
	ey 000,	e4 000,	e4 000,	e4 000,	eh 000,	p4 000,	PH 000,	'000 tonnes CO <sub>2</sub> eqiv.	'000 tonnes Carbon	gm N/I	kg N/ha
B.C.	192	30	401	233	1,208	298	21	2,573	40	N/A	29.3
Alta.	7,503	1,029	2,480	2,231	6,679	2,235	227	18,431	948	N/A	28.3
Sask.	14,812	2,610	1,532	1,406	5,127	1,293	123	10,129	2,178	N/A	37.4
Man.	3,993	213	857	383	1,580	600	326	8,994	148	N/A	58.6
Ont.	2,551		1,038	313	532	306	381	10,160	-11	9.0	44.9
Que.	979		801	183	186	169	429	8,012	-153	4.6	24.9
N.B.	59		79	18	27	17	14	492	9	3.0	18.5
P.E.I.	112		59	12	13	11	14	523	3	4.1	26.8
N.S.	20		76	23	33	22	11	542	0	2.7	23.5
Nfld.	-		7	3	7	-	0	214	0	14.3	107.1
Canada	30,221	3,882	7,330	4,805	15,391	4,951	1,545	60,069	3,159	N/A	36.7

AEIs
land
CRAN
s for
Results
Baseline
2008
e C.4:
ľ

Nitrogen Matching: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEIs for Low, Medium and High Table C.5:

			CUAIVI NES	3 3								
rovince	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	CHG	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
i.c. a	-0.4	-0.8	0.2	0.0	-0.1	0.0	-0.6	N/A	-3.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
q	0.0	-1.5	0.1	0.0	-0.1	0.0	-0.8	N/A	-5.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
U	0.2	-2.2	0.1	0.0	-0.1	0.0	-1.2	N/A	-8.2	N/A	N/A	N/A
Vlta.	0.1	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.4	N/A	-2.1	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.1	-0.5	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.7	N/A	-4.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.2	-0.8	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.2	N/A	-6.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
iask.	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.0	N/A	-2.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.8	N/A	-3.6	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.0	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.8	N/A	-5.4	N/A	N/A	N/A
Aan.	0.1	-0.6	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.0	N/A	-3.2	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.1	-1.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.8	N/A	-5.5	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.2	-1.4	-0.4	0.0	-0.1	0.0	-2.8	N/A	-8.6	N/A	N/A	N/A
Dnt.	-0.4	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.0	-0.7	-1.5	-5.5	-5.4	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.1	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	-0.3	-2.2	-11.2	11.2	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.1	0.0	0.3	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-2.2	-11.2	-11.2	N/A	N/A	N/A
Que.	-0.4	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.9	-4.2	-4.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-14	-8.6	-8.9	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.4	-8.6	-8.8	N/A	N/A	N/A
I.B.	-2.9	0.0	2.2	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-1.5	-4.0	-4.4	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-1.9	0.0	1.4	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-2.0	-6.7	-7.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-1.9	0.0	1.4	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-2.2	-7.4	-7.9	N/A	N/A	N/A
.Е.I.	1.3	0.0	2.4	0.0	0.2	-0.2	-1.8	-10.1	-10.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.6	0.0	1.2	0.0	0.2	-0.3	-3.0	-15.9	-15.8	N/A	N/A	N/A
	-0.6	0.0	1.1	0.0	0.2	-0.2	-3.3	-17.6	-17.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
4.S.	0.3	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	n/a	N/A
	0.3	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.3	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
vfid.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	N/A	N/A	N/A
anada.	0.0	-0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	-0.2	6.0-	N/A	-2.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.0	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-1,4	N/A	-4.3	N/A	N/A	N/A
	0.1	-0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-1.9	N/A	-5.6	N/A	N/A	N/A

<sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates

The Impact of Agricultural Management Strategies on Environmental Indicators

_	
ligh	
Ч	
an	
ш	
<u>edi</u>	
ž	
٥ گ	
Ľ	
5 fo	
Ш	
₹ P	
ano	
čk	
sto	
ive.	
л Г	
lajc	
≥ ≤	
ype	
μ	
an	
L L	
je i	
anç	
ч	
ge	
nta	
<u>r</u> ce	
Pel	
je:	
llaç	
F	s
ero	ate
р И	ŝ
ase	tior
:rea	a 0
lnc	Ad
9	
e C	
abl	
Ë	

			<b>CRAM Res</b>	ults				Env	ironment	al Indicato	Irs	
				Tame	Beef	Breeding						
Province	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Pasture	Cows	Sows	*DHD	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
B.C.	a 0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	0.0	N/A	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	р 0:0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	-0.4	N/A	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	с 0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.6	N/A	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
Alta.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-3.7	N/A	0.2	-9.6	-3.7	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-9.4	N/A	0.6	-23.1	-9.5	0.0
	0.1	-0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-15.1	N/A	0.6	-34.6	-15.3	0.1
Sask.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-13.4	N/A	-0.3	-6.3	-3.7	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-33.7	N/A	0.2	-15.3	-8.6	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-46.1	N/A	0.8	-19.9	-11.2	0.0
Man.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-5.2	N/A	0.1	-8.0	-4.4	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-13.2	N/A	0.7	-19.3	-10.6	0.0
	0.5	-8.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-26.3	N/A	2.0	-38.5	-19.4	0.3
Ont.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.5	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-2.8	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
Que.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-1.5	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-2.8	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
N.B.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.7	-0.1	0.3	0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.4	-0.3	0.3	0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
P.E.I.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	-0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6	-0.6	0.2	0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
N.S.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
Nfld.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
Canada	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-4.2	N/A	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-10.8	N/A	0.2	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.1	-0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-17.2	N/A	0.4	N/A	N/A	0.0

"Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup>Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup>Results for high adoption rates

\*GHG emission results for the zero-till scenario are based on 2001 census information.

Table C.7: Reduced Summerfallow: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEIs for Low, Medium and High

			<b>CRAM Res</b>	ults					/Ironmenta	Indicators		
Province	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	OHO	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
a U	5.3	-25.0	-0.7	0.0	-1.0	0.0	0.1	N/A	0.4	N/A	-0.6	0.2
q	7.7	-50.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.7	N/A	0.6	N/A	-3.1	0.7
υ	12.4	-77.0	-0.2	0.0	-0.4	0.0	0.9	N/A	1.1	N/A	-4.6	1.0
ta.	2.3	-18.0	0.6	0.0	0.2	0.0	-1.3	N/A	-0.4	-4.7	-2.2	1.1
	5.1	-40.0	1:1	0.0	0.0	0.1	-3.7	N/A	-0.8	-11.3	-5.0	2.3
	7.7	-60.0	1.7	0.0	0.2	0.1	-5.7	N/A	-1.2	-16.8	-7.3	3.5
ısk.	2.8	-16.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-6.7	N/A	-0.3	-5.0	-1.5	1.8
	6.5	-37.0	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-16.0	N/A	-1.0	-11.5	-3.3	4.1
	10.4	-59.0	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	-26.1	N/A	-1.6	-18.4	-5.1	6.5
an.	1.4	-25.0	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.0	N/A	0.2	-0.2	-1.1	0.6
	2.6	-50.0	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.0	-2.0	N/A	0.1	-1.4	-2.4	1.4
	3.9	-75.0	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.1	-3.2	N/A	0.1	-2.4	-3.7	2.0
nt.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
ue.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	-0.1	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
В.	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	-0.8	0.6	-0.1	0.3	0.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
E.I.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.8	0.7	0.0	0.2	0.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
s.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.7	0.5	-0.1	0.0	-0.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
fid.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
nada	2.2	-17.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.7	N/A	-0.1	N/A	N/A	1.1
	4.8	-38.6	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	-4.1	N/A	-0.2	N/A	N/A	2.5
	76	5 03-	2.0		č							•

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

The Impact of Agricultural Management Strategies on Environmental Indicators
sk and AEIs for Low, Medium and Hig	
and Type, Major Livestoc	
ercentage Change in L	
Permanent Cover: Pe	Adontion Rates
Table C.8:	

								ľ				
			CRAM Resu	llts _	1	:			nvironmen	al Indicators	S	
Province	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	GHG	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
B.C.	a -7.6	-5.6	0.8	5.7	1.7	-0.3	-1.5	N/A	-2.8	N/A	-3.6	1.4
	b - <b>11.4</b>	-8.4	1.1	8.5	2.5	-0.4	-2.3	N/A	-4.2	N/A	-5.3	2.1
	с -19.0	-14.0	1.9	14.1	3.8	-0.7	4.0	N/A	-7.1	N/A	-8.9	3.6
Alta.	-1.3	-3.4	0.5	5.3	1.1	-0.5	-0.3	N/A	-0.7	-2.3	-1.4	1.2
	-1.9	-5.0	0.8	8.0	1.6	-0.8	-0.5	N/A	-1.1	-3.4	-2.0	1.9
	-3.2	-8.2	1.3	13.3	2.7	-1.3	-0.8	N/A	-1.8	-5.6	-3.4	3.1
Sask.	-1.0	-0.8	1.3	11.1	1.5	-0.2	-1.0	N/A	-0.6	-1.2	-0.9	1.1
	-1.6	-1.2	1.9	16.7	2.2	-0.2	-1.6	N/A	-0.9	-1.6	-1.3	1.7
	-2.6	-2.0	3.2	27.9	3.7	-0.2	-2.6	N/A	-1.5	-2.6	-2.2	2.8
Man.	-1.0	-0.8	0.7	9.2	2.4	-0.1	-0.7	N/A	-0.5	-1.1	-0.8	0.8
	-1.5	-1.2	1.1	13.8	3.7	-0.1	-1.0	N/A	-0.8	-1.6	-1.1	1.2
	-2.5	-1.9	1.9	23.0	6.1	-0.1	-1.7	N/A	-1.2	-2.6	-1.9	2.0
Ont.	-0.8	0.0	0.6	4.7	0.0	-0.3	-0.8	-0.9	-0.9	N/A	-0.8	0.5
	-1.2	0.0	0.9	7.0	0.0	-0.4	-1.2	-1.2	-1.3	N/A	-1.2	0.7
	-2.1	0.0	1.5	11.6	0.0	-0.5	-2.0	-2.1	-2.1	N/A	-2.0	1.1
Que.	-1.1	0.0	0.4	3.9	0.3	-0.1	-0.5	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	-0.8	0.4
	-1.6	0.0	0.7	5.9	0.4	-0.2	-0.7	-0.7	-0.6	N/A	-1.1	0.6
	-2.7	0.0	1.1	9.8	0.8	-0.1	-1.1	-1.1	-1.1	N/A	-1.9	1.0
N.B.	-1.8	0.0	0.4	3.9	0.6	-0.4	-0.6	-0.3	-0.7	N/A	-0.6	0.4
	-2.7	0.0	0.6	5.8	9.0	-0.4	-0.9	-0.7	-0.9	N/A	-0.8	0.5
	-4.4	0.0	1.1	9.7	0.7	-0.3	-1.5	-1.4	-1.5	N/A	-1.4	0.9
P.E.I.	-1.2	0.0	0.6	7.8	0.6	-0.4	-0.7	-1.0	-0.9	N/A	-0.4	0.5
	-1.7	0.0	0.9	11.7	9.0	-0.4	-1.0	-1.5	-1.4	N/A	-0.6	0.7
	-2.9	0.0	1.5	19.5	0.7	-0.7	-1.7	-2.4	-2.4	N/A	-1.0	1.1
N.S.	-2.8	0.0	0.2	1.7	0.6	-0.2	-0.2	-0.4	-0.3	N/A	-0.4	0.2
	-4.2	0.0	0.3	2.7	9.0	-0.2	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	-0.6	0.3
	-7.0	0.0	0.5	4.4	0.6	-0.2	-0.6	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	-0.9	0.6
Nfld.	-3.9	0.0	-1.9	5.5	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.8	-0.8	N/A	N/A	-0.1
	-3.9	0.0	-2.8	8.3	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-1.1	-1.2	N/A	N/A	-0.2
	-5.9	0.0	-4.8	14.2	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-1.9	-2.0	N/A	N/A	-0.4
Canada	-1.1	-1.5	0.7	7.2	1.3	-0.2	-0.7	N/A	-0.9	N/A	N/A	1.0
	-1.7	-2.3	1.1	10.8	1.9	-0.3	-1.0	N/A	-1.3	N/A	N/A	1.5
	-2.8	-3.7	1.8	18.1	3.2	-0.4	-1.6	N/A	-2.2	N/A	N/A	2.5
Notes:												
a Results for low ¿	adoption rates											
b Results for med	lium adoption rates											
c Results for high	adoption rates											

Increased Forage Use in Crop Rotations: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEIs for Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates Table C.9:

			CKAM Kes	ults					Environmen	tal indicators		
Province	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	СНС	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
B.C. a	-1.9	-1.1	1.0	0.0	1.6	-0.6	-0.8	N/A	-0.5	N/A	-0.7	0.3
q	-1.9	-0.9	1.0	0.0	2.1	-1.3	-1.5	N/A	-1.0	N/A	-0.7	0.3
U	-3.9	-2.0	2.0	0.0	3.7	-1.8	-2.1	N/A	-1.5	N/A	-1.3	0.6
Alta.	-1.2	-2.0	4.6	0.0	4.5	-1.0	1.3	N/A	-0.3	-1.8	-0.8	0.9
	-2.5	-3.7	9.2	0.0	9.0	-2.0	2.8	N/A	-0.7	-3.5	-1.5	1.9
	-3.7	-5.5	13.6	0.0	13.4	-2.9	4.2	N/A	-1.0	-5.1	-2.2	2.8
Sask.	-1.5	-0.7	15.4	0.0	16.4	-0.2	7.6	N/A	-0.7	-1.1	-0.7	1.4
	-2.9	-1.4	30.6	0.0	26.9	-0.3	11.5	N/A	-1.6	-2.3	-1.4	2.9
	-4.4	-2.3	46.2	0.0	40.6	-1.6	17.4	N/A	-2.8	-3.7	-2.2	4.3
Man.	-0.7	-0.5	3.6	0.0	3.9	-0.1	0.0	N/A	-1.1	-0.7	-0.4	0.6
	-1.5	-1.0	7.1	0.0	7.8	-0.1	0.1	N/A	-2.1	-1.4	-0.7	1.2
	-2.2	-2.0	10.6	0.0	11.8	-0.6	0.1	N/A	-3.3	-2.3	-1.2	1.8
Ont.	-0.8	0.0	2.0	0.0	1.0	-0.1	-0.7	-0.2	-0.2	N/A	-0.8	0.6
	-1.6	0.0	4.0	0.0	2.1	-0.3	-1.3	-0.3	-0.3	N/A	-1.6	1.1
	-2.8	0.0	7.0	0.0	3.5	-0.6	-1.8	-0.4	-0.5	N/A	-2.9	2.0
Que.	-0.8	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	-0.1	-0.3	-0.2	-0.2	N/A	-0.5	0.4
	-1.6	0.0	2.0	0.0	2.0	-0.2	-0.6	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	-0.9	0.7
	-1.6	0.0	2.0	0.0	2.1	-0.9	-0.8	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	-1.0	0.7
N.B.	-1.3	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.9	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.6	N/A	-0.1	0.4
	-1.3	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	-0.5	-0.4	-0.7	-0.9	N/A	-0.3	0.4
	-2.7	0.0	2.0	0.0	2.0	-2.2	-0.9	-1.4	-1.6	N/A	-0.7	0.8
P.E.I.	-0.5	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	-0.3	-0.1	-1.0	-1.0	N/A	0.0	0.3
	-1.6	0.0	3.0	0.0	3.1	-0.6	-0.2	-2.2	-2.2	N/A	0.1	0.9
	-2.1	0.0	4.0	0.0	4.0	-2.5	-0.5	-3.1	-3.2	N/A	0.0	1.2
N.S.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-0.4	-0.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-3.8	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	-0.4	-0.3	-0.7	-0.8	N/A	-0.1	0.4
	-3.8	0.0	1.0	0.0	1.0	-1.7	-0.6	-1.5	-1.3	N/A	-0.2	0.4
Nfld.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.2	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	-0.3	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.8	0.0	-0.5	-0.5	N/A	N/A	0.0
Canada	-1.2	-1.0	5.7	0.0	7.0	-0.2	1.5	N/A	-0.4	N/A	N/A	1.0
	-2.5	-2.0	11.2	0.0	12.4	-0.5	2.4	N/A	-0.9	N/A	N/A	2.0
	-3.7	-3.1	16.9		18 6	11	2 7	VIV	15	VI/V	N/N	2 0

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates

<sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates

<sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

gh	
ΪΗ	
anc	
шn	
edii	
Š	
ŏ ≥	
orl	
ls f	
Ā	
and	
с <del>к</del>	
sto	
-ive	
orL	
Maj	
je,	
Ţ	
and	
٦Ľ	
je ii	
anç	
ЧС	
age	
ent	
erc	
с; Ъ	
nen	
gen	ŝ
ana	Sate
ΪĽ	1 uc
zinç	ptic
3ra:	op√
ö	4
Ū.	
ole	
Tat	

Province				SIN								
	Cropland	Summerfallow	Havland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	CHG	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	ΡH
B.C. a	-3.8	-2.9	-1.6	6.1	1.1	0.0	-1.7	N/A	-2.3	N/A	-2.3	0.8
q	-7.8	-6.0	-2.8	12.0	1.9	0.0	-3.1	N/A	-4.3	N/A	-4.7	1.6
U	-15.1	-11.6	-5.9	24.0	4.1	-0.3	-6.2	N/A	-8.6	N/A	-9.3	3.2
Alta.	-0.3	-0.2	-1.0	2.3	0.2	-0.1	-0.5	N/A	-0.2	-0.2	-0.4	0.2
	-0.9	-0.6	-1.2	4.6	0.3	-0.3	-1.3	N/A	-0.6	-0.6	-0.9	0.5
	-1.9	-1.6	-1.7	9.2	0.4	-0.6	-2.9	N/A	-1.2	-1.5	-1.7	1.1
Sask.	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	1.7	0.3	0.0	-0.6	N/A	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.1
	-0.3	-0.1	-0.1	3.6	0.4	0.0	-1.3	N/A	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	0.3
	-0.6	-0.2	-0.2	7.2	0.7	0.1	-2.7	N/A	-0.5	-0.3	-0.5	0.5
Man.	-0.2	-0.2	-1.7	6.1	0.5	0.0	-0.6	N/A	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3	0.2
	-0.4	-0.4	-3.5	12.1	0.9	0.0	-1.2	N/A	-0.4	-0.3	-0.6	0.3
	-0.7	-0.7	-7.2	24.2	1.7	0.0	-2.3	N/A	-0.8	-0.5	-1.1	0.5
Ont.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.5	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-1.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	-1.9	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
Que.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.5	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.1	-0.9	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
N.B.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.2	-0.4	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.1	-0.7	-0.7	-0.9	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	-0.3	-1.5	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
P.E.I.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
N.S.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.4	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	-0.8	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	-1.6	0.0	0.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
Nfld.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.6	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.2	0.0	0.0	N/A	N/A	0.0
Canada	-0.2	-0.1	-0.6	2.4	0.3	0.0	-0.5	N/A	-0.3	N/A	N/A	0.1
	-0.5	-0.3	-1.0	4.7	0.4	-0.1	-1.2	N/A	-0.6	N/A	N/A	0.3
	-1.0	-0.7	-1.8	9.5	0.8	-0.1	-2.4	N/A	-1.2	N/A	N/A	0.6

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

Table C.11: Combined Feeding Strategies: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEIs for Low, Medium and High Adoution Rates

					CRAM Re	sults					Environmei	ntal indicator:		
				:	.	Tame		Breeding						
	Provinc	e.	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Pasture	Beef Cows	Sows	CHC	IROWCN N/A	RSN 12	RWDE	RWE	<b>H</b> A
	j	ء ح	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		• <b>9</b>	A/N	- <b>-2.4</b>		0.0	0.0
Mth.         00		υ	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.8	-1.2	N/A	-3.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
$ \begin{array}{lcccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Alta.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.9	-0.3	N/A	-0.4	N/A	0.0	0.0
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.8	-0.5	N/A	-0.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
Math         00			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.7	-0.8	N/A	-1.0	N/A	0.0	0.0
$ \begin{array}{lcccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Sask.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.0	-0.3	N/A	-0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.1	-0.5	N/A	-0.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
Mat.         0.0 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-3.3</td> <td>-0.7</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>-0.3</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.3	-0.7	N/A	-0.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
	Man.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.9	N/A	-0.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
$ \begin{array}{l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l $			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.8	-1.7	N/A	-1.4	N/A	0.0	0.0
			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.2	-2.4	N/A	-2.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
	Ont.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.6	-1.0	-0.8	-0.9	N/A	0.0	0.0
$ \begin{array}{l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l l $			0.0	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	-1.2	-1.9	-1.6	-1.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
Que. $0.0$ <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>-0.1</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.2</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.1</td><td>-1.8</td><td>-2.8</td><td>-2.5</td><td>-2.6</td><td>N/A</td><td>-0.1</td><td>0.0</td></th<>			-0.1	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	-1.8	-2.8	-2.5	-2.6	N/A	-0.1	0.0
	Que.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.6	-1.6	-3.1	-3.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.2	-2.9	-5.9	-6.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
MB.         0.0 <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-1.7</td> <td>-4.3</td> <td>-8.8</td> <td>-9.3</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.7	-4.3	-8.8	-9.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
	N.B.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-1.7	-1.1	-3.7	-3.9	N/A	0.0	0.0
00 $00$ <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>-0.1</td><td>-3.2</td><td>-2.0</td><td>-7.4</td><td>-7.7</td><td>N/A</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td></t<>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-3.2	-2.0	-7.4	-7.7	N/A	0.0	0.0
F.E.I.         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         1.1         1.6         NA         0.0 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-0.1</td> <td>-4.7</td> <td>-2.9</td> <td>-11.5</td> <td>-11.9</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-4.7	-2.9	-11.5	-11.9	N/A	0.0	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         3.1         3.2         N/A         0.0 <td>P.E.I</td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-1.9</td> <td>-0.8</td> <td>-1.7</td> <td>-1.6</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>	P.E.I		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.9	-0.8	-1.7	-1.6	N/A	0.0	0.0
00         00         00         00         01         5.6         2.2         4.8         NA         00			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-3.8	-1.6	-3.1	-3.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
N.S.         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         1.2         1.0 $4.4$ $4.3$ N/A         0.0         0			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-5.6	-2.2	-4.8	-4.8	N/A	0.0	0.0
0.0 $0.0$ <t< td=""><td>N.S.</td><td></td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>-1.2</td><td>-1.0</td><td>-4.4</td><td>-4.3</td><td>N/A</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td></t<>	N.S.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.2	-1.0	-4.4	-4.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.1         3.8         2.7         12.8         12.5         N/A         0.0         0.0         0.0           NId.         0.0 <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-2.6</td> <td>-1.8</td> <td>-8.8</td> <td>-8.5</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.6	-1.8	-8.8	-8.5	N/A	0.0	0.0
Nfld.         0.0 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-0.1</td> <td>-3.8</td> <td>-2.7</td> <td>-12.8</td> <td>-12.5</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-3.8	-2.7	-12.8	-12.5	N/A	0.0	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         1.9         2.8         0.0         4.7         4.7         N/A         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         3.8         -5.6         0.7         7.0         7.1         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         -0.7         7.0         7.1         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         -0.7         0.7         N/A         1.5         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         -0.7         -1.3         N/A         1.5         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         -1.3         N/A         -1.5         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         -1.3         N/A         -1.5         N/A         N/A         0.0	Nfld.		0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-2.3	-2.4	N/A	N/A	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         3.8         5.6         0.7         7.0         7.1         N/A         N/A         0.0 <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>-2.8</td> <td>-0.5</td> <td>-4.7</td> <td>-4.7</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>N/A</td> <td>0.0</td>			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	-2.8	-0.5	-4.7	-4.7	N/A	N/A	0.0
Canada         0.0<			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.8	-5.6	-0.7	-7.0	-7.1	N/A	N/A	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         1.3         N/A         -3.1         N/A         N/A         0.0           0.0	Canada	_	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.7	-0.7	N/A	-1.5	N/A	N/A	0.0
0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         2.0         1.9         N/A         -4.6         N/A         N/A         0.0           Notes:			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-1.3	-1.3	N/A	-3.1	N/A	N/A	0.0
Notes: <sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates			0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-2.0	-1.9	N/A	-4.6	N/A	N/A	0.0
<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates	Notes:													
<sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates	<sup>a</sup> Results fo	or low ado	ption rates											
	<sup>b</sup> Results fc	or medium	n adoption rat	tes										

The Impact of Agricultural Management Strategies on Environmental Indicators

option	
igh Ad	
and H	
Aedium	
· Low, I	
El's foi	
k and A	
vestoc	
Aajor Li	
Type, N	
n Land	
hange i	
itage CI	
Percen	
restry:	
Agro-Fc	Rates
C.12: /	<u> </u>
Table	

			<b>CRAM Res</b>	ults								
rovince	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	рно	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	НА
B.C. a	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.8	0.1	-4.2	N/A	-0.9	N/A	-0.3	1.3
q	-1.4	-1.5	-1.6	-1.5	-2.1	0.0	-10.6	N/A	-2.3	N/A	-0.7	3.2
U	-2.9	-3.0	-3.1	-3.0	-4.2	0.0	-21.3	N/A	-4.5	N/A	-1.4	6.6
Nta.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.3	N/A	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.7	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-1.3	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
ask.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.9	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-2.2	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-4.5	N/A	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.5
Aan.	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	-0.4	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.1
	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.9	N/A	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-1.9	N/A	-0.3	0.0	0.0	0.5
Dnt.	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.5	-0.1	-0.1	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2	-1.3	-0.2	-0.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.3	0.0	-0.3	-0.3	-0.1	-0.2	-2.6	-0.5	-0.5	N/A	0.0	0.0
Que.	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.7	-0.2	-0.2	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.3	0.0	-0.3	-0.3	-0.1	-0.1	-1.6	-0.3	-0.3	N/A	0.0	0.0
	-0.7	0.0	-0.7	-0.7	-0.3	0.0	-3.2	-0.6	-0.6	N/A	0.0	0.0
4.B.	-0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.4	-1.4	0.0	-0.1	N/A	0.0	0.5
	-0.5	0.0	-0.5	-0.5	-0.4	0.0	-3.4	-0.2	-0.2	N/A	0.0	1.2
	-1.1	0.0	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	-0.1	-6.7	-0.3	-0.3	N/A	0.1	2.5
P.E.I.	-0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.3	-0.1	-0.7	-1.6	-0.5	-0.5	N/A	0.0	0.6
	-0.5	0.0	-0.5	-0.5	-0.3	0.0	-3.8	-1.1	-1.0	N/A	0.1	1.5
	-1.1	0.0	-1.1	-1.1	-0.6	0.0	-7.7	-2.1	-2.1	N/A	0.2	3.0
4.S.	-0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	-0.1	-0.3	-1.0	-0.4	-0.3	N/A	0.0	0.4
	-0.5	0.0	-0.5	-0.5	-0.4	0.0	-2.3	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	0.1	1:1
	-1.0	0.0	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	0.0	-4.7	-0.8	-0.8	N/A	0.1	2.2
vfld.	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.4	-1.9	0.0	-0.3	-0.1	-0.1	N/A	N/A	0.3
	0.0	0.0	-0.6	-0.4	-5.7	0.0	-0.7	-0.4	-0.4	N/A	N/A	0.7
	-2.0	0.0	-1.0	-1.2	-9.4	0.0	-1.3	-0.7	-0.8	N/A	N/A	1.7
anada	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.7	N/A	-0.2	N/A	N/A	0.1
	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	-1.7	N/A	-0.4	N/A	N/A	0.2
	-0.7	-0.1	-0.4	-0.3	-0.3	0.0	-3.4	N/A	6 U-	N/A	N/A	5 0

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

 Table C.13: Combined Scenario: Percentage Change in Land Type, Major Livestock and AEIs for Low, Medium and High

 Adoption Rates

56

			CKAM Kes	ults				Environmen	tal indicators			
Province	Cropland	Summerfallow	Hayland	Tame Pasture	Beef Cows	Breeding Sows	CHG	IROWCN	RSN	RWDE	RWE	HA
<b>B.C.</b> a	-14.3	-36.0	1.8	11.1	3.8	-0.7	-8.4	N/A	-6.9	N/A	-9.8	4.8
q	-24.3	-62.0	2.1	18.6	7.1	-1.2	-17.1	N/A	-12.2	N/A	-16.7	9.3
U	-47.3	-90.0	3.1	33.9	12.9	-1.8	-31.9	N/A	-18.0	N/A	-29.1	17.3
Alta.	-0.6	-23.7	4.8	7.6	6.7	-1.1	-6.2	N/A	-5.0	-18.2	-8.7	3.5
	0.0	-50.0	9.4	12.5	10.6	-1.9	-15.9	N/A	-10.7	-40.4	-18.9	6.6
	-0.7	-77.0	13.4	22.3	18.2	-2.8	-26.3	N/A	-15.6	-57.7	-29.7	10.5
Sask.	0.2	-17.7	15.7	12.8	16.3	-1.3	-21.3	N/A	-7.3	-13.8	-7.1	4.5
	1.8	-40.0	31.2	20.2	32.8	-2.4	-50.4	N/A	-13.9	-31.0	-15.1	9.0
	2.9	-64.0	46.9	34.9	45.9	-3.5	-77.8	N/A	-20.8	-44.0	-21.1	14.4
Man.	-0.9	-27.0	4.0	15.3	8.2	-0.5	-9.8	N/A	-6.9	-10.5	-7.1	2.5
	-1.3	-54.0	7.7	25.7	15.3	-0.9	-21.9	N/A	-11.7	-24.4	-15.7	4.7
	-2.3	-90.0	11.1	46.6	25.3	-1.3	-41.2	N/A	-16.9	-47.2	-29.0	7.9
Ont.	-1.5	0.0	2.0	4.6	0.3	-1.2	-4.8	-6.8	-6.8	N/A	-1.4	0.9
	-2.7	0.0	4.0	6.8	1.6	-1.8	<b>-8.8</b>	-13.6	-13.7	N/A	-2.5	1.6
	-4.7	0.0	7.0	11.3	2.9	-2.8	-14.8	-14.7	-14.8	N/A	-4.3	2.8
Que.	-1.8	0.0	1.0	3.8	0.6	-0.7	-4.7	-7.5	-7.8	N/A	-1.0	0.7
	-3.3	0.0	2.0	5.5	1.8	-1.4	-9.0	-14.7	-15.3	N/A	-1.9	1.2
	-4.7	0.0	2.0	9.1	1.8	-2.0	-14.2	-17.8	-18.4	N/A	-2.6	1.6
N.B.	-3.3	0.0	1.2	3.7	0.1	-1.9	-4.8	-8.1	-8.3	N/A	-0.6	1.2
	-4.4	0.0	1.0	5.3	5.6	-3.7	-8.3	-14.1	-14.7	N/A	-1.2	2.1
	-8.2	0.0	2.0	8.6	10.0	-5.2	-13.8	-19.5	-20.0	N/A	-2.2	4.2
P.E.I.	-1.8	0.0	1.2	7.5	0.6	-2.5	-4.7	-12.1	-11.9	N/A	-0.2	1.3
	-3.6	0.0	3.0	11.2	4.8	4.1	-9.3	-19.3	-19.0	N/A	-0.4	2.9
	-5.8	0.0	4.0	18.4	6.1	-6.1	-15.1	-21.7	-21.5	N/A	-0.7	5.2
N.S	-3.0	0.0	0.0	1.5	0.1	-1.6	-2.8	-4.7	4.7	N/A	-0.4	0.7
	-9.3	0.0	1.0	2.1	3.2	-2.9	-5.3	-9.1	0.6-	N/A	-0.7	1.9
	-13.8	0.0	1.0	3.4	4.4	-4.2	-9.5	-13.5	-13.3	N/A	-1.2	3.4
Nfld.	-31.4	0.0	0.0	5.1	0.0	-2.8	-1.0	-2.5	-2.5	N/A	N/A	1.6
	-51.0	0.0	0.0	7.9	0.0	-2.8	-2.0	-5.0	-5.0	N/A	N/A	2.9
	-86.3	0.0	0.0	13.0	0.0	-5.6	-3.6	-7.4	-7.4	N/A	N/A	5.0
Canada	-0.5	-20.0	5.9	9.5	8.5	-0.9	-8.9	N/A	-5.9	N/A	N/A	3.3
	0.2	-43.6	11.6	15.4	15.9	-1.6	-20.3	N/A	-11.2	N/A	N/A	6.5
	01	-69 1	171	144		, ,		114	\ L 7			L ( 7

<sup>a</sup> Results for low adoption rates <sup>b</sup> Results for medium adoption rates <sup>c</sup> Results for high adoption rates

57

# APPENDIX D Provincial Summaries

# **British Columbia**

Results of the current analysis show that the suite of environmental management scenarios has a desirable impact on all AEIs in British Columbia. These results are driven by changes in land use and livestock and are summarized in Figure D.1. In British Columbia, land use shifts from cropland and summerfallow to hayland and tame pasture. Under medium adoption rates, cropland decreases by 47,000 ha and summerfallow by 18,000 ha. The area in hayland and tame pasture increase by 9,000 ha and 43,000 ha respectively. The remaining 13,000 ha are converted to afforestation.

Figure D.2 provides a summary of the percentage change in AEIs for British Columbia. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base, a 9% change under medium adoption rates and a range of 5% to 17% under low and high adoption rates.

The largest percentage change in AEIs is reflected in the GHG and RWE indicators, which show a 17% improvement under medium adoption rates. The main drivers of these results are the afforestation, grazing management and permanent cover scenarios. The



wide range of impact suggests that these indicators are sensitive to the level of adoption. It is important to note that the reduction in the RWE indicator is likely understated since the current models do not account for differences in tillage types for non-Prairie provinces. Future work will involve alteration of the necessary models to account for tillage differences.

#### Alberta

Results of the analysis show that the environmental management scenarios have a desirable impact on all AEIs for Alberta. These results are driven by the changes in land use and livestock levels. Figure D.3 summarizes the percentage change in land use types and livestock for Alberta. A substantial amount of land shifts from cropland and summerfallow to hayland and tame pasture. Under medium adoption rates, cropland decreases by 3,000 ha and summerfallow by 514,000 ha. The area in hayland and tame pasture increase by 232,000 ha and 278,000 ha respectively - the remaining hectares are converted to afforestation. The increase in hay and tame pasture area is accompanied by an increase in beef cows.

Figure D.4 summarizes the magnitude of impact of the combined scenarios on the AEIs. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increased by 7% for medium adoption rates respectively.

In Alberta, the largest impact occurs in the RWDE indicator. The summerfallow and zero tillage scenarios are the main drivers of this result. Overall, scenarios with the largest impact in Alberta are better nitrogen matching, increased zero tillage and reduced summerfallow.



## Saskatchewan

The suite of management scenarios results in a desirable impact on all AEIs. These results are driven by the changes in land use and livestock levels. In Saskatchewan, the overall impact of the scenarios on land use is a shift from cropland and summerfallow to hayland and tame pasture (Figure D.5). Under medium adoption rates, cropland increases by 267,000 ha and summerfallow decreases by 1 million ha. The area in hayland and tame pasture increases by 479,000 ha and 285,000 ha respectively the remaining hectares are converted to afforestation. The rise in hay and tame pasture is accompanied by an increase in beef cows. The increase in cropland is due to the fact that the amount of land converted to cropland in the reduced summerfallow scenario is greater than the total cropland conversion to forage and afforestation in all the other scenarios.

The impact of the scenarios on the AEIs is summarized in Figure D.6. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 9% under medium adoption rates, and 4% and 14% for low and high adoption rates respectively.

Scenarios with the greatest impact in Saskatchewan are nitrogen matching, zero tillage and reduced



59

summerfallow. These scenarios are the major drivers of the change for the GHG and RWDE indicators. Increased use of forage in crop rotations results in a relatively large increase in GHG emissions (12%) due to the increase in the number of livestock. However, the overall combined effect of the scenarios is a reduction in emissions.

In Saskatchewan, the suite of management scenarios has the largest impact on the GHG indicator. GHG emissions are reduced by 50% (5.1 Mt  $CO_2$  equivalent), which is 42% of total national emission reductions.

### Manitoba

The results indicate that all the management scenarios have a desirable impact on all AEIs. These results are driven by the changes in land use and livestock levels. In Manitoba, land use shifts from cropland and summerfallow to hayland and tame pasture (Figure D.7). Cropland and summerfallow decrease by 54,000 ha and 115,000 ha respectively. Hayland increases by 66,000 ha and tame pasture by 98,000 ha. Beef cow numbers increase while breeding sow numbers decline slightly.

Among the AEIs, the largest percentage changes occur for RWDE and GHG indicators. Figure D.8 summarizes the overall impact of the scenarios on each indicator. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base. Under medium adoption rates, the HA indicator increases by 5%. Results for low and high adoption rates are 3% and 8% respectively.

Scenarios with the greatest impact on AEIs for Manitoba are nitrogen matching, zero tillage and reduced summerfallow.

It should be noted that the 2008 BAU estimate for RSN is much higher in Manitoba than in other provinces.

This is due to the fact that the nitrogen fertilizer sales (per ha basis), one of the main drivers of the model, are highest in Manitoba.



## Ontario

The environmental management scenarios result in a change in the AEIs, which suggests an improvement in air, soil and water quality and biodiversity in Ontario. These results are mainly driven by the changes in land use and livestock numbers (Figure D.9). Under medium adoption rates, cropland decreases by 69,000 ha while the area in hayland and tame pasture increase by 42,000 ha and 21,000 ha respectively - the remaining hectares are converted to afforestation. The increase in forage is accompanied by an increase in beef cows and a decline in breeding sows.

Figure D.10 summarizes the overall impact of the scenarios on each indicator for Ontario. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure since it is represented by a positive change from the base. Under medium adoption rates, the HA indicator increases by 2%. Results for low and high adoption are 1% and 3% respectively.

A relatively large percentage reduction (14%) occurs in IROWCN and RSN indicators. This reduction is driven by the nitrogen matching scenario, which assumes a reduction in excess nitrogen on corn crops in Ontario. It is important to note that the reduction in the RWE indicator is likely understated since the current models do not account for differences in tillage types for non-Prairie provinces. Future work will involve alteration of the necessary models to account for tillage differences.

## Quebec

Combined scenario results for Quebec show that all indicators are moving in the desired direction. These results are mainly driven by the changes in land use and livestock numbers. A summary of the changes in land use type and livestock numbers for Quebec is presented in Figure D.11. The suite of management scenarios result in a shift from cropland (33,000 ha) to





hayland (16,000 ha) and tame pasture (10,000 ha), with the remainder of the land shifting to afforestation. The number of beef cows increases slightly due to increased forage, while breeding sows decline marginally.

Figure D.12 is a summary of the overall impact on each indicator. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 1% under medium adoption rates, and 1% and 2% under low and high adoption rates respectively.

The suite of scenarios has the greatest impact on the IROWCN and RSN indicators. A reduction of 15% in nitrogen indicators suggests an improvement in water and soil quality. Scenarios with the greatest impact in Quebec are: 1) nitrogen matching - impacts IROWCN and RSN and 2) combined feeding - impacts IROWCN, RSN and GHG. It is important to note that the overall reduction in the RWE indicator is likely understated since the current models do not account for differences in tillage types for non-Prairie provinces. Future work will involve alteration of the necessary models to account for tillage differences.

#### **New Brunswick**

62

In New Brunswick, the environmental management scenarios have an overall desirable impact on the AEIs. These results are mainly driven by the changes in land use and livestock numbers. Changes in land use are small - approximately 1,800 ha (medium adoption) of cropland are shifted to hayland and tame pasture (Figure D.13) and 800 ha to afforestation. Breeding sow numbers fall by approximately 4% (medium adoption) and beef cow numbers increase by 6%.

Figure D.14 is a summary of the impact on the AEIs. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 2% under medium adoption rates and 1% and 4% under low and high rates respectively.



The largest percentage change from the baseline occurs for the IROWCN and RSN indicators. The changes in IROWCN and RSN are mainly a result of the nitrogen matching scenario (reduced nitrogen fertilizer application on potatoes) and the combined feeding scenario.

## **Prince Edward Island**

The environmental management scenarios have a desirable impact on all indicators in Prince Edward Island. AEI impacts are driven by changes in land use and livestock numbers. Figure D.15 summarizes the percentage change in land use type and livestock numbers. Cropland is reduced by 4,100 ha, hayland and tame pasture increase by 1,800 ha and 1,300 ha respectively - the remaining hectares are converted to afforestation.

The percentage changes in AEIs from the baseline are shown in Figure D.16. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 3% under medium adoption rates and 1% and 5% under low and high rates respectively.

The large reduction in IROWCN and RSN is mainly driven by the nitrogen matching scenario due to reduced nitrogen fertilizer application on potatoes, with a lesser impact from the combined feeding scenario.

## Nova Scotia

Results of the analysis show that the combined environmental management scenarios have a desirable impact on all indicators in Nova Scotia. AEI impacts are driven by changes in land use and livestock numbers. Figure D.17 summarizes the percentage change in land use type and livestock numbers for Nova Scotia. Cropland is reduced by 1,900 ha and hayland and tame pasture increase by 760 ha and 490 ha respectively - the remaining hectares are converted to afforestation.



Figure D.16: Summary of Percentage Change in AEIs for Prince Edward Island under Low, Medium and High Adoption Rates



Cropland

Havlan

Tame Pasture Beef Cows Breeding

The percentage changes in AEIs from the baseline are shown in Figure D.18. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is the only indicator with a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 2% under medium adoption rates, and 1% and 3% under low and high rates respectively.

Reductions in the GHG indicator are mainly due to the combined feeding and afforestation scenarios. The decreases in the IROWCN and RSN indicators are driven by the combined feeding scenario.

## Newfoundland

In Newfoundland, the environmental management scenarios have an overall desirable impact on the AEIs. These results are mainly driven by the changes in land use and livestock numbers. Changes in land use are extremely small due to the limited amount of agricultural land in the province. Some cropland (260 ha) is shifted to tame pasture and afforestation in the combined scenario (Figure D.19). Breeding sow numbers fall by approximately 3% (medium adoption) due to increased domestic feed grain prices as the result of reduced production in other provinces. Beef cow numbers are unchanged.

Figure D.20 is a summary of the impact on the AEIs. The vertical line associated with each indicator represents the range of impact for low to high adoption rates (see Appendix A). The black marker represents the impact under medium adoption rates. The HA indicator is not included in the figure below since it is represented by a positive change from the base. The HA indicator increases by 3% under medium adoption rates, and 2% and 5% under low and high rates respectively.

The scenario with the greatest impact on the environmental indicators in Newfoundland is the combined feeding strategy, impacting GHG, IROWCN and RSN. Due to the relatively small land base for agricultural production combined with the large scale of the models used in this analysis, the results for Newfoundland are somewhat limited in their usefulness for developing targets.



65

# REFERENCES

- Cao, Y.Z., D.R. Coote, H.W. Rees, C. Wang and T.L. Chow. 1994. Effects of intensive potato production on soil quality and yield at a benchmark site in New Brunswick. Soil & Tillage Research 29:23-34.
- Horner, G.L., J. Corman, R.E. Howitt, C.A. Carter and R.J. MacGregor. 1992. The Canadian Regional Agriculture Model: Structure, Operation and Development. Policy Branch, Agriculture Canada, Technical Report 1/92.
- Janzen, H.H., C.A. Campbell, R.C. Izaurralde, B.H. Ellert, N. Juma, W.B. McGill and R.P. Zentner. 1998. Management effects on soil C storage on the Canadian Prairies. Soil and Tillage Research 47:181-195.
- Kulshreshtha, S.N., R. Gill, B. Junkins, R. Desjardins, M. Boehm and M. Bonneau. 2002. Canadian Economic and Emissions Model for Agriculture (CEEMA 2.0): Technical Documentation, CSALE Working Paper # 12, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon.
- McConkey, B.G., B.C. Liang, and C.A. Campbell. 1999. Estimating gains of soil carbon over a 15-year period due to changes in fallow frequency, tillage system, and fertilization practices for the Canadian Prairies (An Expert Opinion). Misc. Publication #379M0209, Swift Current Semiarid Prairie Agricultural Research Centre, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.
- McRae, T., C.A.S Smith and L.J. Gregorich (eds). 2000. Environmental Sustainability of Canadian Agriculture: Report of the Agri-Environmental Indicator Project. Research Branch, Policy Branch, Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. Ottawa, Ont.
- Rees, H.W. 2002. Personal communication. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Potato Research Center.
- Smith, W.N., R.L. Desjardins and B. Grant. 2000. Estimated changes in soil carbon associated with agricultural practices in Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science. (submitted).